UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

HEAVY METAL CONCENTRATION IN CASSAVA CULTIVATED ON RE-VEGETATIVELY RESTORED MINED SPOILS AT AN ANGLOGOLD CONCESSION, OBUASI-GHANA

ABUBAKAR MUHAMMED

2015

Digitized by Sam Jonah Library

UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

HEAVY METAL CONCENTRATION IN CASSAVA CULTIVATED ON RE-VEGETATIVELY RESTORED MINED SPOILS AT AN ANGLOGOLD CONCESSION, OBUASI-GHANA

BY

ABUBAKAR MUHAMMED

Thesis submitted to the Department of Soil Science of the School of Agriculture, College of Agriculture and Natural Sciences, University of Cape Coast in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of Master of Philosophy degree in Land use and Environmental Science

JUNE 2015

DECLARATION

Candidate's Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my own original research and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Candidate's Signature:		Date:
Name: Abubakar Muhamme	ed	

Supervisors' Declaration

We hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the thesis were supervised in accordance with the guidelines on supervision of thesis laid down by the University of Cape Coast.

Principal Supervisor's Signature:..... Date:

Name: Prof. Daniel Okae-Anti

Co-Supervisor's Signature: Date:

Name: Prof. B. A. Osei

ABSTRACT

Mining is one of the main causes of environmental pollution by heavy metals. Re-vegetation of mine spoils is an effective way of restoring the mined land to its pristine status. The study was conducted to assess the physicochemical soil properties, heavy metal concentrations in two re-vegetatively restored mined spoils at an AngloGold concession at Obuasi. Concentration of heavy metals in cassava were used as an indicator for comparism. A simple random sampling technique was used to obtain soils at 0-15 cm depth and crop samples. Data analyses were done using GENSTAT statistical package. The results showed that the soil was slightly acidic, loamy textured, well aerated with a maximum bulk density of 1.33 Mg m^{-3} . The mean maximum concentration values for K^+ , Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Na^+ in the soil; 7.39, 12.72, 12.62, and 1.57 mg kg⁻¹ respectively were very low. These were attributed to leaching losses and low level of organic carbon content of the soil. Also, the mean maximum concentrations of As, Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb and Zn levels in the soil were; 0.98, 34.50, 213.45, 56.11, 3.35 and 43.04 mg kg⁻¹ respectively, while Cd was below detection. Metals detected in the soil were at higher concentrations compared to values in the cassava tubers. These values detected were however below phytotoxicity levels. Further studies on heavy metal accumulation in the cassava were suggested to be made at different seasons in order to help advise farmers on the consumption pattern of the crop.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am heartily grateful to my Principal and Co-supervisors Prof. Daniel Okae-Anti and Prof. B. A. Osei, respectively, for their fatherly counsel and support which has brought this work this far.

Special thanks go to Dr. Alhaj Mohammed Askia Musah (Savanna Agricultural Research Institute) for his encouragement, understanding and brotherly support.

I am very grateful to Messrs Samuel Abeiku (Re-vegetation Supervisor, AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi), Kwabena Osei-Agyeman (Laboratory Technician-Soil Science Department University of Cape Coast), Josiah Wilson Techie-Menson (Crop Science Department University of Cape Coast), Nash Anthony (Ghana Atomic and Energy Commission Accra) for their enormous contribution to the success of this work.

Special thanks go to my uncle Chokorsi Denis Okumu for his support and care.

I am also thankful to my colleagues and the entire staff of the school of Agriculture.

To my family, I am appreciative of your love, care and support. Finally, my profound gratitude goes to all who supported me in any aspect during the course of my work

iv

DEDICATION

To the memory of my late father Alhassan Mohammed, Hajia Suada Mohammed, my mother, Abubakar Aasium Charmawla and the entire family

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
KEY WORDS	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
DEDICATION	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF PLATES	xii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
Background to the study	1
Statement of the problem	3
Objectives of the study	5
Main Objectives	5
The specific objectives of the study	5
Research Hypothesis	5
Significance of the study	5
Delimitations	6
Limitation	6
Definition of terms	6
Organization of the study	7

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Impacts of mining projects on soil quality	8
Chemical and physical properties of soil important for plant	
growth	10
Behaviour of heavy metals in contaminated oils	19
Soil-to-plant transfer factor	30
Re-vegetation and Its importance	36
Methods used in re-vegetation process	46
Summary of literature review	51
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODS	
Description of study area	52
Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil	54
T ₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil	55
Control farm	56
Experimental design	56
Soil sampling and sample preparation	57
Soil physical properties	58
Soil moisture content	58
Particle size analysis	58
Determination of bulk density and pore volume by the graduated	
cylinder method	59
Soil chemical analysis	61
Soil pH	61
Total organic carbon	61
Total nitrogen	61

Available phosphorus	62
Exchangeable bases	63
Exchangeable acidity	63
Heavy metals extraction from soil samples	64
Crop sampling and sample preparation	65
Heavy metals extraction from crops sampled	66
Data analyses	66
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Results	68
Soil physical properties of the experimental soils	69
Soil Chemical Properties	73
Relationship between Physico-chemical properties of the	
experimental soils	80
Heavy metals in soils	85
Arsenic, cadmium, copper, iron, magnesium, lead and zinc	85
Extractable heavy metal from cassava tubers sampled	89
Arsenic, cadmium, copper, iron, magnesium, lead and zinc	89
Transfer of heavy metal from soil to cassava tubers	91
Correlation between iron, zinc, copper, magnesium and arsenic in soil	
and their corresponding elements in cassava tubers	93
Summary of key findings	94
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND	
RECOMMENDATIONS	
Summary	96
Conclusions	96
Recommendations	97

viii

REFERENCES

APPENDICES

Ι	Map of Ghana showing Obuasi Township	119
Π	The descriptive ranges of soil pH	120
III	Soil Test Interpretation Guide	121
IV	correlation of phyisco-chemical properties of soil	
	at re-vegetatively restored mined soil	123
V	Cadmium content of cassava tubers	
	from the study area	124
VI	Translocation factors	125

98

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Ranges of maximum allowable concentrations (MAC))
	or trigger action value (TAV) for trace metals in	
	agricultural soils (mg kg ⁻¹)	32
2.	Heavy metal composition of typical uncontaminated s	oils
	and agricultural crops	32
3.	Selected physical properties of soils for various treatn	nents
	at AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Concession	68
4.	Selected chemical properties of soil for various sites a	t
	AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Concession	72
5.	Heavy metals in soil (0-15 cm) for various treatments	
	at AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Concession	85
6.	Level of heavy metals in cassava tubers at the study	
	area (mg kg ⁻¹)	88
7.	Translocation factor values for Iron	91
8.	Correlation coefficient between heavy metals in soils	
	and cassava tubers from the study area	93

LIST OF PLATES

Plate		Page
1.	A farm located at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively	
	restored mined spoil	54
2.	A church located at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively	
	restored mined spoil	55
3.	T1 Waste dump re-vegetated with varied stand	
	of Acacia mangium	56

KEY WORDS

Heavy metal

Mined spoil

Mined spoil reclamation

Phytotoxicity

Re-vegetation

Translocation factor

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Background to the Study

Mining is the world's second oldest and most important industry after agriculture. It is currently the fifth largest industry in the world and it plays a vital role in world economic development (Down & Stocks, 1977). However, all these benefits have been offset by considerable negative impacts on the environment and on the health and safety of mine workers and mining communities (Blinker, 1999). Increased growing public awareness of these costs and the challenges of sustainable development, societies around the globe are progressively expecting the mining industry to apply higher standards of environmental safety and community management to all projects through the application of modern technologies and management tools (Blinker, 1999).

An increase in the concerns for the environment has made the concurrent post-mining reclamation of degraded land an integral feature of the whole mining spectrum (Ghose, 1989). Conservation and reclamation efforts to ensure continued beneficial use of land resources are essential. Reclamation is the process by which derelict or highly degraded lands are returned to productivity, and by which some measures of biotic function and productivity are restored (Sheoran et al., 2010). Long term mine spoils reclamation requires the establishment of stable nutrient cycles for plant growth and microbial processes (Sheoran et al., 2010). The soil provides the foundation for this process, so its composition and density directly affect the future stability of the

restored plant community. Reclamation strategies must address soil structure, soil fertility, microbe populations, top soil management and nutrient cycling in order to return the land as closely as possible to its pristine condition and continue as a self-sustaining ecosystem.

Vegetation has an important role in protecting the soil surface from erosion and allowing accumulation of fine particles. It can reverse the degradation process by stabilizing soils through development of extensive root systems. Once established, plants increase soil organic matter, lower soil bulk density, and moderate soil pH and bring mineral nutrients to the surface and accumulate them in available forms. Their root systems allow them to act as scavengers of nutrients not readily available. The plants accumulate these nutrients; and redeposit them on the soil surface through plant litter and subsequently organic matter from which nutrients are much more readily available by microbial breakdown (Sheoran et al., 2010). Plants to be used for re-vegetation must be drought-resistant, fast growing crops or fodder which can grow in nutrient deficient soils. They should also be easy to establish, grow quickly, and have dense canopies and root systems (Sheoran et al., 2010). The AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine has made investments to reclaim the degraded lands at mined sites in its concession by re-vegetating with multipurpose tree species and grasses including Acacia mangium, Senna siamea, Ceiba pentandra and grasses. The re-vegetating strategies are necessary to improve the soil fertility for crop production and to restore the ecosystem function closer to pre-mining status. This study, therefore, aims to evaluate the impact of the re-vegetation strategy on some soil fertility indicators at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils and assess the

concentration of heavy metals both in soil and cassava tubers at the revegetated mined spoils.

Although mining-contaminated lands constitute a relatively small proportion of the total extent of degraded lands in the world, the scale of mining is increasing and the impacts are generally more severe (Kumar, 2013). Some surface mined areas and mine spoil dumps are nutritionally deprived habitats characterized by infertile soils having extreme pH values, low cation exchange capacity, low water holding capacity, and low nutrient availability (Kumar, 2013). Given the growing food insecure populations of the world (835.2 million undernourished people in the developing world), it is important to raise agricultural productivity on all types of lands including the mine-contaminated ones that are re-vegetated (FAO, 2010).

Statement of the Problem

Despite the benefits of mining, mining areas are associated with a high environmental cost including decreased access to potable water, loss of biodiversity, decline in soil fertility, degradation of agricultural lands, and increased fragmentation of communities which result in the decline in the livelihoods of individuals, groups and communities. These issues are of great concern to conservationists, ecologists, policy-makers and all environmental advocates.

Studies on heavy metal pollution in various environments and or lands within mining communities in Ghana have been undertaken during the last few decades (Hilson, 2002; Golow and Adzei, 2002; Adimado and Amegbey, 2003; Manu et al., 2004; Essumang et al., 2007; Obiri, 2007; Yidana et al., 2008; Armah et al., 2010; Nude et al., 2011). Heavy metal accumulation in

soils is of concern in agricultural production due to the adverse effects on food safety and marketability, crop growth due to phyto-toxicity, and environmental health of soil organisms (Nagajyoti et al., 2010). Plants growing in metal-polluted sites exhibit altered metabolism, growth reduction, lower biomass production and metal accumulation. Various physiological and biochemical processes in plants are affected by metals. A few metals, including copper, manganese, cobalt, zinc and chromium are, however, essential to plant metabolism in trace amounts. Heavy metals when taken up by plants may enter the food chain in significant amounts. Hence, people could be at risk of adverse health effects from consuming crops grown in soils containing elevated heavy metals concentrations. For instance, it is estimated that approximately half of human lead (Pb) intake is through food, with around half originating from plants (Nagajyoti et al., 2010). Root crops such as cassava and carrot can accumulate heavy metals, e.g. Cd, Cu, Mn, Pb and Zn in their tissues (Marisa & John, 2006). Care must therefore be made in growing these plants on soils with little or trace amount of such heavy metals.

Over the years, AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine has employed various reclamation techniques and resources to impact on conservation values of degraded sites in anticipation of returning some pre-disturbance functions. In fulfilling these objectives re-vegetation has since been used for reclamation purposes by the Mine. Even though the reclamation is perceived to go in parallel with mining so that lands will be made available to the resource-poor farmers after decommissioning, knowledge about the quality of the cassava crop grown on this re-vegetatively restored mined spoils is yet to be established.

Objectives of the Study

Main Objective

To assess the impact of re-vegetatively restored mined spoils on heavy metals concentration in cassava cultivated on such spoils at the AngloGold Ashanti Mine concession at Obuasi.

Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of the study were to assess:

- The magnitude of some selected soil physical and chemical (Fe, Zn, Cu, As, Mn, Pb and Cd) properties in two re-vegetatively restored mined spoils.
- 2. The levels of heavy metals (Fe, Zn, Cu, As, Mn, Pb and Cd) in the cassava crop grown on the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils.
- 3. The relationship between heavy metal concentration in the soil and that of the cassava tubers at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil.

Research Hypothesis

H_o: Heavy metal concentration of re-vegetatively restored mined spoils are within phytotoxic limits

H_o: Concentration of heavy metals in the cassava crop grown at the revegetativley restored mined spoils are within phytotoxic limits

Significance of the Study

The study will establish the effectiveness of the re-vegetation strategies employed at the mined spoils. Once the method proved to be successful, it could be used to restore similar mined spoils by mining companies. This study will also help in ascertaining the quality of cassava tubers produced at the re-

vegetatively restored mined spoil/sites and give practical recommendations for the consumption of this crop.

Delimitations

Two re-vegetatively restored mined soils at AngloGold concession Obuasi, were used for this study. Levels of heavy metals in the cassava were also determined only in the tubers. Cassava peels, stems and leaves were excluded from the study.

Limitations

The study was conducted during the months of June – July, 2014. This was a rainy season and might have affect the levels of soil physical and chemical properties and some heavy metals in the soil.

Definition of terms

Bioavailability: The degree and rate at which a trace element is absorbed into a living system or is made available at the site of physiological activity.

Heavy metal: A metal of relatively high density (<5 cm⁻³) or of high relative atomic weight

Mine spoil: All waste except for tailings generated as result of gold mining.

Phytotoxicity: Level at which a compound or trace element can be toxic to the plant

Mine Reclamation: The process of restoring land that has been mined to a natural or economically usable state.

Re-vegetation: The process of replanting and rebuilding the soil of disturbed land.

Restoration: The process involved in returning an altered, dysfunctional and or degraded landscape to a functional healthy ecosystem.

Organisation of the Study

The first chapter introduces the research conducted, describing the need for reclamation of mined land, stating the research problem, main and specific objectives to attain.

Chapter 2 is devoted to the literature review of the study. Among the topics discussed were; the impact of mining on soil quality, re-vegetation and its importance and behaviour of heavy metals in contaminated soils. The chapter concludes with a brief summary of the literature review.

In chapter 3, a brief account as well as the description of the study area and the methodological approaches carried out in order to achieve the set out objectives as well as software used for the data analysis.

The results of the study are discussed in chapter 4. The chapter states the levels of soil physico - chemical properties, concentration of heavy metals both in the soil and cassava tubers and finally the partial correlation between heavy metals in the soil and the cassava tubers.

Chapter 5 concludes the research with some recommendations whilst references and appendices are given on separate sheets after recommendations.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter reviews literature relevant to the topic. Issues covered include the impact of mining on soil quality, chemical and physical properties of soil important for plant growth, behaviour of heavy metals in contaminated soils, soil-to-plant transfer factor, re-vegetation importance and methods used in re-vegetation.

Impacts of Mining Projects on Soil Quality

Surface mining is perhaps the greatest agent of land degradation, utilizing over 13% out of the 240,000 km² of the remaining forest in Ghana for mining activities (Awotwi, 2003). It has been widely recognized since the late 20th century that re-vegetation as a reclamation strategy is a desirable and necessary remedy "to return the mined areas to an acceptable environmental condition whether for resumption of the former land use or for a new use" (Redgwell, 1992), or to allow such lands to achieve their optimum economic value as much as possible (Bastida, 2002). In addition, reclamation is generally considered as an ongoing programme because of progressively growing environmental effects as mining evolves through the different stages of development (Walde, 1993). Mining is a temporary use of land and mined land reclamation is clearly justified from the perspective of sustainable development. Thus, it has become an important part of the sustainable development strategy in many countries (Gao et al., 1998).

Surface mined soils are mechanically, physically, chemically and biologically deficient, characterized by instability and limited cohesion, with

low contents of nutrients and organic matter and high levels of heavy metals. Apart from the local disturbance of the physical properties, toxic metals can cause a more widespread contamination of soil, sediments and food crops leading eventually to a loss of biodiversity and a potential health risk to residents in the vicinity of the mining area (Zhang et al., 2002; Galan et al., 2003). Land is one of the most important resources on which human beings depend. The rate of exploitation and consumption of mineral resources is continuously increasing with the advancement of science and technology, economic development, industrial expansion, acceleration of urbanization and growth of population. Growth of our society and civilization thus heavily rely upon the mining industry to operate and maintain comfort. The effects for mining activities on the surface is mining wastes and alteration of land forms which are of concern to society and it is desired that the pre-mine conditions are restored (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Mining can contaminate soils over a large area. Agricultural activities near a mining project may be particularly affected. According to a study commissioned by the European Union, mining operations routinely modify the surrounding landscape by exposing previously undisturbed earthen materials. Erosion of exposed soils, extracted mineral ores, tailings, and fine material in waste rock piles can result in substantial sediment loading to surface waters and drainage ways. In addition, spills and leaks of hazardous materials and the deposition of contaminated windblown dust can lead to soil contamination (International Institute for Environment and Development, 2002).

According to Sheoran et al. (2010) human health and environmental risks from soils generally fall into two categories; contaminated soil resulting from

9

windblown dust, and soils contaminated from chemical spills and residues. Fugitive dust can pose significant environmental problems at some mines. The inherent toxicity of the dust depends upon the proximity of environmental receptors and type of ore being mined. High levels of arsenic, lead, and radionuclides in windblown dust usually pose the greatest risk. Soils contaminated from chemical spills and residues at mine sites may pose a direct contact risk when these materials are misused as fill materials, ornamental landscaping, or soil supplements (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Chemical and Physical Properties of Soil Important for Plant Growth

Selected soil chemical and physical properties important for plants growth are discussed below.

Soil fertility

The three major macronutrients, namely nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium are generally found to be deficient in overburden dumps. All newly created mine soils, and many older ones, will require significant fertilizer element applications for the establishment and maintenance of any plant community. Organic matter is the major source of nutrients such as nitrogen, and available P and K in unfertilized soils. A level of organic carbon greater than 0.75% indicates good fertility. Organic carbon is positively correlated with available N and K and negatively correlated with Fe, Mn, Cu, and Zn. Initial applications of fertilizers have been shown to increase the specific numbers, plants co-density and growth rates of vegetation (Sheoran et al., 2010).

The impact of soil organic carbon (SOC) or soil organic matter (SOM) on other aspects of soil quality have also been widely reported with

contradictory evidence as to whether increased levels have a positive or negative effect on soil function or indeed any effect at all. Loveland and Webb (2003) in a review of reported data on availability of micronutrients concluded "there is no consistent effect of SOC on crop uptake of Zn or Cu". Higher levels of SOC are desirable from both an agronomic and environmental perspective and soil function may be adversely affected by a lack of SOC (John et al., 2009). They continued that it is however very difficult to determine at what level of SOC content, soil structure and function are adversely affected. A "trigger or threshold value" is questionable, rather a critical level for any soil will be dependant. As SOC declines towards lower levels the yield potential and workability of the soil will decline in parallel with adverse environmental performance. Whilst there is no specific level of SOC below 2% that can be used to determine soils in poor condition, observation of the functionality of the soils below 2% SOC, in terms of crop production is a useful indicator of unsustainable farming practices and prompting to adjust management or tillage practices (John et al., 2009).

Some of the important metallic micronutrients that are essential for plant growth are iron, manganese, copper and zinc. These micronutrients are available in the soil due to continuous weathering of minerals mixed with primary minerals. These metals are more soluble in acidic solution, and they dissolve to form toxic concentrations that may actually hinder plant growth (Sheoran et al., 2010). According to Lindsay and Norvell (1978), if the concentration of micronutrients in the soil was higher than 4.5 mg kg⁻¹ for Fe, 1.0 mg kg⁻¹ for Mn, 1.0 mg kg⁻¹ for Zn and 0.4 mg kg⁻¹ for Cu, the values are rated as highly sufficient for ecological sustainable reclamation.

Soil pH

Soil pH is a measure of soil reaction and is the most commonly used indicator of mine soil quality. The pH of a given mine soil can change rapidly as the rock fragments weather and oxidize. Pyritic minerals (FeS₂), when present, oxidized to sulfuric acid and drastically lower the pH, while carbonate (Ca/MgCO₃) bearing minerals and rocks tend to increase the pH as they weather and dissolve. Unweathered (or unoxidized) mine soils that contain a significant amount of pyritic-S in excess of their neutralizers (carbonates) will rapidly drop the pH to a range of 2.2 - 3.5 after exposure to water and oxygen. Vegetation achieves optimal growth in soil at a neutral pH. When the soil pH drops below to 5.5, reduced legume and forage growth occur due to metal toxicities such as aluminum or manganese, phosphorus fixation, and reduced population of N-fixing bacteria. The situation inhibits plant root growth and many other metabolic processes. A mine soil pH in the range of 6.0 to 7.5 is ideal for forages and agronomic or horticultural uses (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Maiti and Ghose (2005) reported that pH varied from 4.9 to 5.3 in a mining dump site and thus indicated the acidic nature of the dumps. This acidic nature arose due to the geology of the rock present in the area. It has been reported earlier that at pH less than 5, the bioavailability of toxic metals such as nickel, lead and cadmium also increases (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Soil aggregation

Soil aggregation controls soil hydrology, affects soil diffusion and the degree of nutrient availability to the soil, may reduce erosion potential and constitutes a pathway of organic carbon stabilization and long term sequestration (Heras, 2009). Aggregate structure breaks down as successive

layers of soil are removed and stockpiled elsewhere on the site when mining begins.

The resulting compaction reduces water holding capacity and aeration. Macro aggregate stability is largely responsible for macroporosity, which determines soil drainage rate and aeration; it changes seasonally and is often affected by cultivation and cropping regime. Micro-aggregate stability is more resilient than macro-aggregate stability as the organic matter responsible for binding the soil particles together reside in pores too small for microorganisms to access, thus micro-aggregates are less sensitive to cropping practices than macro-aggregates and are responsible for crumb porosity which controls the amount of available water for vegetation (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Soil texture

The relative amounts of sand (2.0 - 0.05 mm), silt (0.05 - 0.002 mm), and clay (< 0.002 mm) particles determine the texture of soil. Mine soils with sandy textures cannot hold as much water or nutrients as finer textured soils like loams and silts. The silts are finer textured soils and have a tendency to form surface crusts, and often contain high level of soluble salts, and have a poor "tilth" or consistence. The particle size distribution of the soils with loamy textures is generally ideal. Silt loam textures are common where spoils are dominated by siltstones (Ghose, 2005).

Moisture, bulk Density, compaction and available rooting depth

Moisture content in a dump is a fluctuating parameter which is influenced by the time of sampling, height of dump, stone content, amount of organic carbon, and the texture and thickness of litter layers on the dump surface. During the winter, the average moisture content of 5% was found to

be sufficient for the plants growth (Sheoran et al., 2010). Gravimetric soil water contents of air-dry (25 °C) mineral soil are often less than 2 per cent, but, as the soil approaches saturation, the water content may increase to values between 25 and 60 per cent, depending on soil type. Volumetric soil water content, may range from less than 10 per cent for air-dry soil to between 40 and 50 per cent for mineral soils approaching saturation. Water contents for stony or gravelly soils can be grossly misleading. When rocks occupy an appreciable volume of the soil, they modify direct measurement of soil mass, without making a similar contribution to the soil porosity. For example, gravimetric water content may be 10 per cent for a soil sample with a bulk density of 2000 kg m⁻³; however, the water content of the same sample based on finer soil material (stones and gravel excluded) would be 20 per cent, if the bulk density of fine soil material was 1620 kg m⁻³. (Campbell & Henshall, 2001).

Bulk density of productive natural soils generally ranges from 1.1 to 1.5 Mg m^{-3} . High bulk density limits rooting depth in mine soils. Soil compaction directly limits plant growth, as most species are unable to extend roots effectively through high bulk-density mine soils. Severely compacted (bulk density > 1.7 Mg m⁻³) mine soils, particularly those with less than 60 cm of effective rooting depth, shallow intact bedrock and the presence of large boulders in the soil simply cannot hold enough plant-available water to sustain vigorous plant communities through protracted drought. About 90 to 120 cm of loose non-compacted soil material is required to hold enough water to sustain plants through prolonged droughts (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Soil Vegetation interactions

Soil vegetation interactions is vital in determining the effects of soil on re-vegetation success in degraded mined areas. There is a variety of research available on the carbon sequestration potential of diverse types of revegetation projects and with those comes minor analysis of other variables such as moisture and nutrient enrichment. (Yadav et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2011; Dean et al., 2012).

From subjective and observational investigation it is clear that there is a relationship between soils and vegetation, nevertheless there is a lack of synthesis of this relationship with regards to the interactions of soil condition and re-vegetation efforts. It seems there is no attempt to measure the success of a planting based simply on the changes in soil conditions over time and it would seem that this is a necessary aspect of assessment when approaching a planting from an ecological restoration perspective as the whole ecosystem must function as it once did, abiotic factors included. Wilson (2008), studied the effect of scattered paddock trees on surface soil properties and among his major findings were that there was a significant decrease in pH, carbon, nitrogen and extractable phosphorous systematically with distance from individual sites. This indicates the potential influence vegetation can have on soil properties.

The storage of carbon within soil and decaying vegetation is a theme which has come to the forefront of scientific research recently as communities search for advanced methods of removing carbon from the atmosphere and store it in a stable form (Shrestha & Lal, 2006; Yadav et al., 2009; Batjes, 2011). A large body of literature exists on a number of variations in soil

organic carbon (SOC) storage under plantations (Turner & Lambert, 2000; Turner et al., 2005; Kasel & Bennett, 2007), under native grasslands and woodlands (Jonson and Freudenberger, 2011; Pringle et al., 2011; Dean et al., 2012), the potential to store carbon in reclaimed mine sites and the effects of vegetation restoration and rehabilitation on soil carbon amounts (Wilson, 2008; Son et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2011). The potential of re-vegetated areas to support crop production has been mapped as agricultural landscapes return to native vegetation in other countries (Alberti et al., 2011), though notably absent is assessment of Ghanaian soils. The potential for the accumulation pattern to be detectable means that SOC accumulation could be a valuable indicator for the effectiveness of re-vegetation whilst also providing information about the possibility of carbon off-set schemes based on revegetation and restoration.

Contradiction however exists within the literature on this topic. Dean et al. (2012) discusses this through suggesting that a 'breakeven' point in carbon soil dynamics may occur whereby there is a net emission directly after re-vegetation, a time lapse where soil carbon turns from emission to accumulation which then reaches the 'breakeven' point where the soil has returned to pre-re-vegetation carbon levels and only after which net sequestration occurs. This could suggest a reason for some of the contradictions in the literature, hence sampling done before the breakeven point would show a decrease in soil organic carbon (Turner and Lambert, 2000) and those sampled afterwards would show an increase (Wang et al., 2011).

Soil moisture and nutrients

As with all things within an ecosystem, even one which has been highly modified, the interaction of vegetation with soil cannot be overlooked. It has been documented that leguminous species provide litter fall which is low in lignin and high in degradable organic carbon and nitrogen (Alegre et al., 2004). As such these species are recognized as being primary boosters of soil nutrients (typically N) within rehabilitation environments (Alegre et al., 2004). The deficiencies in nutrients has been recognized as a key factor affecting re-vegetation success (Schwenke et al., 2000). A decline in N in conventionally ploughed and rehabilitated sites at a Bauxite mine near Weipa, Western Australia was observed in sites with poorly performing rehabilitation. Losses of up to 69% in mineralised N within the top 0-10cm of soil occurred in the first 18 months after rehabilitation, this was attributed to the highly disturbed nature of mine site rehabilitation locations (Schwenke et al., 2000). In an exceptional study conducted by Alberti et al. (2011) the effect of rainfall on organic carbon content was inextricably linked to the types of vegetation which persisted in particular areas and the amount of N retained within the soil. 70% of the variation in their data was explained by the amount of precipitation within an area, where dry sites (<750 mm annually) gained soil organic carbon (SOC) after colonisation of native species, and wet sites lost SOC. The trend in carbon dynamics was linked to the nitrogen dynamics in the area as carbon losses occurred only when there was a decrease in soil nitrogen stocks, which occurs in wetter sites due to leaching.

Soil moisture is also another relevant factor when looking at the potential success of re-vegetation sites. It is unquestionable that moisture is

needed in some form within the soil profile for vegetation to survive. It is evident that soil moisture retention does influence the success of rehabilitated sites due to it becoming a limiting factor in germination rates, especially in areas where conditions are harsh with little time for moisture to become available to the seed (Bochet et al., 2007). The presence of moisture within the soil is generally related to the decomposition rates of leaf litter within rehabilitation sites (Cortez, 1998). This process works by the assumption that leaf litter insulates the soil from desiccation, the presence of moisture and leaf litter helps to provide a favourable environment for decomposing fungi and microorganisms, which in turn influences the levels of nutrients within the top layer of soil which directly comes into contact with any viable seed dropped from re-vegetated species.

Soil fauna and microorganisms

Though soil fauna is not a component of this research it is important to discuss the significance soil microbes have on soil condition and therefore vegetation and in turn re-vegetation. Bourne et al. (2008) have suggested from the results of their study the effect of soil biota on growth of *Eucalypt microcarpa*, that variation in soil fauna has the potential to greatly influence the growth rates of re-vegetation on retired agricultural lands, such as those being re-vegetated in the Braidwood district. Bourne et al. (2008) also found that soil fauna provided benefits in terms of release of nitrogen and support of decomposition rates, but also to leaf robustness and biomass increases overall. Conversely Jouquet et al. (2010) have found that though the addition of compost and vermicompost (worm castings) both improved soil parameters (increased nutrients, C and pH) and seedling growth and biomass amounts, the

interaction of local endogenic earthworms with these additions can have a negative effect on soil parameters and plant growth through leaching of the soil nutrients.

A major part of re-vegetation within Ghana takes place within the mining industry as mine spoil and impacted lands are rehabilitated as part of general practice within mine leasehold areas. Because of the limited private companies' funds for rehabilitation, costs-effective methods need to be used for rehabilitation. This has been the major objective of mining industries efforts in rehabilitating mined spoils through re-vegetation. One such comprehensive study was conducted on the importance of inoculation to increase the numbers of filamentous and non-filamentous bacteria and fungi within the soil (Wildman 2009). It was recognized that these microorganisms provide beneficial decompositional services within the leaf litter biomass and top soil layers making it advantageous to improve numbers of these microorganisms to improve re-vegetation success (Wildman, 2009). Inoculation of the soil to be re-vegetated results in an increase in actinomycetes (filamentous microbe spp.) and fungi in a measureable gradient from disturbed state to rehabilitated state. Hence this progression in soil microorganisms could provide an assessable gradient for decomposition rates, soil nutrient rates and therefore increases in vegetation development.

Behaviour of Heavy Metals in Contaminated Soils

Since the beginning of the industrial revolution, heavy metal contamination of the biosphere has increased considerably to become a serious environmental concern. Contamination by heavy metals can be considered as one of the most critical threats to soil and water resources as well as to human

health. During the past decades, the annual widespread release of heavy metals reached 22000 Mg for Cd, 939000 Mg for Cu, 1350000 Mg for Zn, and 738000 Mg for Pb (Ahmadpour et al., 2012).

The two different pathways that heavy metals enter the environment are from natural and anthropogenic sources. Natural sources of heavy metals contamination usually result from the weathering of mines, which are themselves created anthropogenically. The toxicity of heavy metals is a very serious issue, because they have long persistence in the environment. The halflife of these toxic elements is more than 20 years. According to Sarma, (2011), this environmental problem has threatened the health of more than 10 million people in many countries. Heavy metal pollution has spread throughout the world. There are 53 elements that are classified as heavy metals. Their densities exceed 5 Mg m⁻³, and they are known as universal pollutants in industrial areas (Sarma, 2011).

Heavy metal pollution is a crucial environmental concern throughout the world. It occurs in the soil, water, living organisms, and at the bottom of the sediments. Environmental contamination by heavy metals as a result of industrial and mining activities became widespread in the late 19th and early 20th centuries (Ahmadpour et al., 2012). Heavy metals, including Cd, Cu, Cr, Zn, Ni and Pb as critical pollutants, have an adverse effect on the environment, specifically at high concentrations in areas with severe anthropogenic activities. Although they are natural components of the earth's crust, heavy metals' biochemical equivalence and geochemical cycles have changed noticeably due to human activities. These metals are just being transformed from one form to another, because of their inability to degrade naturally. The

heavy metals, namely copper, iron, zinc, molybdenum and magnesium are micronutrients and are considered to be essential to maintaining life in biological systems. However, at higher concentrations, these metals become highly toxic and threaten the health of animals and humans by influencing the quality of crops, water and atmosphere. The heavy metals Cd, Cu, Ni and Hg create greater phytotoxicity than Zn and Pb (Ahmadpour et al., 2012). The pollution of soil is a crucial matter that has attracted considerable public attention over the past few decades. A large proportion of land has become hazardous and non-arable for humans and animals, because of extensive pollution. It is unusual to have soils without at least traces of heavy metals, and the levels of these elements become more toxic due to anthropogenic or natural activities that are harmful for living systems (Ahmadpour et al., 2012).

Mine wastes are often characterized by shales, cobbles and pebbles, which have a very low water holding capacity. In addition to low pH and elevated metal concentration at these sites, other adverse factors includes absence of topsoil, periodic sheet erosion, drought, compaction, and absence of soil forming fine ingredients. Metal contaminated soils inhibit soil forming processes and plant growth. There is commonly shortage of essential nutrients supportive of biological growth (P, N, and K) and contains almost no organic matter. Toxic metals can also adversely affect the number, diversity and activity of soil organisms, inhibiting soil organic matter decomposition and N mineralization processes. The original soil of mined sites is usually lost or damaged, with only skeletal material. There is change in soil texture, loss of structure; and low availability of soil moisture; uncertain structure and unstable slopes due to hilly terrain. Sometimes mine waste sites (overburden,

mine tailings) contain pyrites and sulphide minerals. These minerals when exposed to air and moisture oxidize to produce acid and soluble salts (Ahmadpour et al., 2012).

Pyrite oxidation and hydrolysis give rise to large amounts of H⁺ ions which, by decomposition and exchange reactions with other spoil minerals, can give rise to high concentration of Al, Mn, Fe, Zn, Cu and other metals depending upon the composition of the originating mineral (Sheoran et al., 2012).

The possible source of heavy metals in the mining areas is crushed and exposed bedrock containing these metals through blasting. The metals considered in this study are Zinc, Copper, Lead, Arsenic, Iron, Manganese and Cadmium. These metals may be released in solution minerals during rains thereby making them available for detection.

Zinc

Zinc as trace element found in varying concentrations in all soils, plants and animals is needed in small but critical concentrations. The zinc which is available to plants is that present in the soil solution, or is adsorbed in a labile form. The soil factors affecting the availability of zinc to plants include; the total zinc content, pH, organic matter content, clay content, calcium carbonate content, soil moisture status, concentrations of other trace elements, concentrations of macro-nutrients, especially phosphorus and climate among others (Alloway, 2008).

Alloway (2008) explains that availability of zinc decreases with increasing soil pH due to increased adsorptive capacity. At neutral pH values, Zn^{2+} readily forms complexes with soil organic matter and clay minerals,

becoming relatively immobile and accumulates in the surface soil horizons. The phytotoxicity level of zinc in soils varies between 100 - 500 mg kg⁻¹ depending on plant genotype and soil pH. Alkaline, calcareous and heavily limed soils tend to be more prone to zinc deficiency than neutral or slightly acid soils. High levels of phosphorus may decrease the availability of zinc. Also higher concentrations of copper in the soil solution, relative to zinc, can reduce the availability of zinc to a plant (and *vice versa*) due to competition for the same sites for absorption into the plant root. This could occur after the application of a copper fertilizer (Alloway, 2008).

Zinc phytotoxicity is reported relatively often, especially for acid and heavily sludge soils. The physiology and biochemistry of the toxic effects of Zn in plants are likely to be similar to those reported for other trace metals; however, Zn is not considered to be highly phytotoxic. The toxicity limit for Zn depends on plant species and genotypes, as well as on a growth stage. A Zn content at about 300 mg kg⁻¹ is reported to be toxic to young barley, whereas about 400 mg kg⁻¹ is toxic to oats at the beginning of tillering (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

Copper

Available copper in soils is held mainly as Copper cation (Cu^{2+}) on surfaces of clay minerals or in the association with organic matter. Copper present as an impurity in silicate minerals or carbonates is largely unavailable. Organic matter and soil pH are the predominant factors influencing copper availability. Copper availability decreases as organic matter in soil increases. Organic matter binds copper more tightly than any other micronutrient. This reduces fixation by soil minerals and leaching, as well as availability to crops.
Increasing the soil pH by liming increases the amount of copper held by clay and organic matter, thereby decreasing copper availability. Phytotoxic levels of Cu^{2+} vary from 100 - 1636 mg kg⁻¹ depending on plant genotype and soil pH (Schulte and kelling, 1999).

Lead

Lead naturally occurs in magmatic and sedimentary rocks, and typically forms sulfide and carbonate minerals. The average lead content in the Earth's crust is estimated as 15 mg kg⁻¹. In the terrestrial environment, two kinds of lead are known: primary and secondary. Primary lead is of a geogenic origin and was incorporated into minerals at the time of their formation, and secondary Pb is of a radiogenic origin from the decay of Uranium and Thorium (Kabata-Pendias, 2011). Generally, lead is accumulated near the soil surface, mainly due to its sorption by SOM. Studies conducted by Kabata-Pendias (2011) suggest that SOM plays a decisive role in the Pb adsorption, but the fixation by clay minerals is much stronger. The mobilization of lead is usually slow, but some soil parameters, such as increased acidity, formation of Pb-OM complexes may increase its solubility. The lead levels of soils that are toxic to plants are not easy to evaluate, due particularly to the difficulty in assessing how much of soil Pb is available to plants (Kabata-Pendias, 2011). The study further showed that, an upper limit for lead content of an unpolluted soil could be established as 70 mg kg⁻¹. A similar value for lead concentration limit (60 mg kg⁻¹) was established in China for tea garden soils. The soil lead concentration of 450 mg kg⁻¹ in a playground is also proposed. The maximum mean tolerance limit value for lead in soils of South Africa is accepted as 56 mg kg⁻¹, at its range of 2.99–65.8 mg kg⁻¹ (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

The solubility of lead is significantly lower than other trace metals in the environment, and is primarily controlled by soil pH. Lead minerals are very insoluble, and therefore lead is considered to be the least mobile of the heavy metals in natural environments; being 100 times less soluble than Cd in the pH range of 5-9. It is considered a major environmental pollutant and is phytotoxic to plants in the 100-1000 mg kg⁻¹ range (Adriano, 2001; Kabata-Pendias, 2011). Low Pb concentrations in soils may inhibit some plant processes however, lead poisoning has rarely been observed under field conditions (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

Arsenic

The average content of As in the Earth's crust is estimated as 1.8 mg kg⁻¹ and it's highly associated with deposits of several metals and metalloids and therefore, known as a good indicator in geochemical prospecting surveys. Numerous oxide minerals of asenic are a result of the oxidation of sulfide deposits. The overall mean value of the total asenic for different soils is estimated as 6.83 mg kg⁻¹ (Kabata-Pendias, 2011). Typical ranges for asenic in soils is 0.1 to 40 mg asenic kg⁻¹ soil. Arsenic is primarily present as an anion in soils and its compounds are readily soluble, but have limited mobility due to strong sorption by clays, hydroxides, and organic matter (Kabata-Pendias & Pendias, 1992). The bioavailability of As is controlled by the oxidation state of the soil, the amount of phosphorus (P) in the soil, soil pH, and soil organic matter (Adriano, 2001; Kabata-Pendias, 2011). Arsenic and phosphorus have been found to react similarly in soils in terms of sorption capacities and bioavailability (Adriano, 2001). Arsenic is a constituent of most plants, and root growth stimulation has been observed in some species, yet arsenic is not

considered an essential element for plant metabolism (Kabata Pendias and Pendias, 1992; Adriano, 2001). Phytotoxic levels of soil As have been documented as 15-315 mg kg⁻¹ (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992). Total asenic is a relatively poor indicator of phytotoxicity. Multiple studies have shown higher correlation between plant growth and soluble asenic than total asenic (Adriano, 2001). Symptoms of As phytotoxicity in plants include wilted leaves, violet coloration, root discoloration, and growth reduction (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992; Adriano, 2001).

Jain et al. (1999) investigated the adsorption properties of asenic in soil and found that asenic was strongly adsorbed onto soil particles, was highly correlated with Fe-oxide and relatively immobile in soils. Wang et al. (2002) also reported that the transfer of As from soil to plant is low as a result of:

(i) the restricted uptake by plant roots due to low As bioavailability;

(ii) the limited translocation of As from root to shoot;

(iii) and As phytotoxicity even at low concentrations in plant tissues.

Sadiq et al. (1983) indicated increased As bioavailability by increasing soil pH with the addition of lime. They argued that because As is mostly present as an anion in soils, its bioavailability increases with increasing pH.

Iron

Kabata-Pendias (2011) explained that, iron is the most important metal and one of the major constituents of the lithosphere and plays a special role in the behavior of several trace elements. The colour of soils is largely associated with amounts and forms of iron compounds. As emphasized, the speciation and distribution of iron compounds in soils is very useful for the typology and diagnosis of soil properties. The general rules governing the mobilization and

fixation of iron are that oxidizing and alkaline conditions promote the precipitation of iron, whereas acid and reducing conditions promote the solution of iron compounds. The released Fe readily precipitates as oxides and hydroxides, but it also substitutes for Mg and Al in other minerals and often complexes with organic ligands. Results presented by Kabata-Pendias (2011) indicated that amounts of metals bound to both amorphous Fe oxides and crystalline iron oxides in metal-polluted soils are fairly similar and governed mainly by soil properties. Many reactions are involved in the solubility of Fe in soil, but hydrolysis and formation of complexed species appear to be the most important. The solubility of Fe³⁺ and Fe²⁺ amorphous hydrous oxides especially control the mobility of soil Fe. Soils developed on acid sulfate soils have very poor agricultural productivity because of their acidity. This acidity is a result of the oxidation of pyrite. At high pH, pyrite is oxidized chemically, but at pH values below 4.5, it is mediated by microorganisms. These processes may result in a very low soil pH and greatly influence the release of metals (Kabata-Pendias 2011).

Plant injury due to Fe toxicity is most likely to occur on strongly acid soils (Ultisols, Oxisols), on acid sulphate soils, and on flooded soils. A high concentration of Fe in the soil solution is almost always related to Fe toxicity. The concentration of Fe^{2+} at about 500 mg kg⁻¹ in paddy soils was reported to kill rice seedlings. Edible parts of vegetables contain Fe within mean values of 33 to 65 mg kg⁻¹, in carrot and soybean seeds, respectively. Various cereal grains do not differ much in their Fe concentrations. The average Fe contents of different cereals range from 31 to 98 mg kg⁻¹. Values above 100 mg kg⁻¹ are reported only for some countries, for example, 218 and 133 mg kg⁻¹ in barley

from the United Kingdom and in oats from Canada respectively (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

Cadmium

The average Cd content for the Earth's crust is given as 0.1 mg kg⁻¹. The metal occurs rarely in nature in a pure form and has similar ionic structures, electronegativities, and chemical properties with Zn. Cadmium has a stronger affinity for S than Zn and thus, its mobility in an acidic environment is higher than that of Zn (Kabata-Pendias, 2011). Although Cd has the same valence and similar ionic radius as Ca, it does not substitute for Ca in minerals. Cadmium is considered as being one of the most ecotoxic metals that exhibits adverse effects on all biological processes of humans, animals and plants. This reveals its great adverse potential to affect the environment and the quality of food. The world average soil cadmium concentration is estimated as 0.41 mg kg⁻¹. The main factor determining cadmium contents of soils is parent material. The average contents of Cd in soils lie between 0.2 and 1.1 mg kg⁻¹. In uncontaminated soils, its contents are highly governed by soil texture and ranged from 0.01 to 0.3 mg kg⁻¹ in sandy soils and from 0.2 to 0.8 mg kg⁻¹ in loamy soils. Surface soils from major agricultural production areas of the United States contain Cd within the range of < 0.01 to 2.0 mg kg⁻¹ (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

Alloway (2011) reported Cd contents in reference soils from different countries to range from 0.06 to 4.3 mg kg⁻¹. Although Cd is considered to be a nonessential element for metabolic processes, it is effectively absorbed by both root and leaf systems and is also highly accumulated in soil organisms. There is evidence that an appreciable fraction of Cd is taken up passively by

roots, but Cd is also absorbed metabolically. The Cd content of plants is of great concern as a pathway of Cd to man and animals. Thus, tolerance and adaptation of some plant species to higher Cd levels, although important from an environmental point of view, create a health risk. Cadmium concentration in food plants is of special concern and several international organizations have been collaborating to protect human health and the environment from the Cd stress. According to Kabata-Pendias (2011) many soil parameters control Cd uptake by plants, some plants species reveal an unusual ability for its uptake and transfer to upper parts. Some of these plants include *Alyssum murale*, *Zea mais*, *Salix viminalis*, *Helianthus annuus*, and *Viola baoshanensis*.

Manganese

Manganese is one of the most abundant among trace elements in the lithosphere. Its common occurrence in rocks ranges from 350 to 2000 mg kg⁻¹ and higher concentrations are associated with mafic rocks. Manganese is a member of the iron family and both elements are closely associated in geochemical processes. Manganese contents of worldwide soils vary from 411 to 550 mg kg⁻¹. Its highest levels occur in loamy and calcareous soils. Manganese has not been considered to be a polluting metal in soils however, the Maximum Allowable Concentration (MAC) value for this metal in agricultural soils is estimated at the range of 1500–3000 mg kg⁻¹. Generally, the most readily available manganese is in acid and flooded soil. More than a tenfold increase in the manganese content of lucerne (alfalfa) was observed in plants grown on flooded soil, compared to background values. Indeed,

manganese concentration in plants shows a negative relationship with increasing soil pH and a positive relationship with soil OM.

Soil-to-plant Transfer Factor

The transfer or translocation factor (TF) is formulated as TF = the Metal concentration in the edible part of the vegetable or crop/Metal concentration in the media sample (Khan et al., 2010; Saglam, 2013). The metal concentrations in the extracts of the soils and plants are mostly calculated on the basis of dry weight. If the ratios >1, the plants have accumulated elements, the ratio 1 indicate that the plants are not influenced by the elements, and ratios < 1 show that plants exclude the elements from the uptake (Olowoyo et al., 2010). If the plants have higher TF values, they can be used for phytoremediation (Saglam, 2013).

Heavy metal levels in Ghana soils and food crops

Hayford et al. (2008) investigated the presence of toxic elements and possible heavy metals in cassava and soil from the mining communities in and around Tarkwa. Their results showed that the maximum concentrations of the respective metals in cassava and soil samples were arsenic (As = 0.7 mg kg^{-1} and 14.35 mg kg⁻¹), zinc (Zn = 38.42 mg kg^{-1} , and 42.36 mg kg^{-1}), and copper (Cu = 66.39 mg kg^{-1} , and 53.46 mg kg^{-1}). They concluded that the heavy metals concentrations in cassava were higher than the values proposed by the FAO, the Expert Committee on Food Additives of the WHO and the Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry (Hayford et al., 2008).

Zango et al. (2013) also studied the levels of Cd, Pb, Zn and Cu (mg/kg) in soils and food crops sampled from farms around surface mined areas at Wassa-Amenfi-West District of Ghana. They indicated that mean

concentrations of Lead ranged from 1.03-5.5 mg kg⁻¹, cadmium 1.87 - 2.48 mg kg⁻¹, Zinc 7.93-17.46 mg kg⁻¹, and copper from 4.42 -12.87 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. They concluded that heavy metal levels in soil samples were within the permissible limits of Indian and EU standards. However, heavy metals in cassava were higher than in soils, with Pb, Cd, Zn and Cu in cassava exceeding FAO/WHO recommended values. Therefore local inhabitants were not safe in consuming the cassava crops (Zango et al., 2013).

Factors affecting heavy metals mobility and bioavailability in plants

Plant uptake of trace elements is generally the first step of their entry into the agricultural food chain. Plant uptake is dependent on: movement of elements from the soil to the plant root, elements crossing the membrane of epidermal cells of the root, transport of elements from the epidermal cells to the xylem, in which a solution of elements is transported from roots to shoots, and possible mobilization, from leaves to storage tissues used as food (seeds, tubers, and fruit) in the phloem transport system. After plant uptake, metals are available to herbivores and humans both directly and through the food chain. The limiting step for elemental entry to the food chain is usually from the soil to the root (Amare, 2007). Plant species, relative abundance and availability of necessary elements also control metal uptake rates. Abundant bio available amounts of essential nutrients can decrease plant uptake of nonessential but chemically similar elements. Bioavailability may also be related to the availability of other elements. For example, copper toxicity is related to low abundances of zinc, iron, molybdenum and (or) sulphate (Amare, 2007).

According to Singh et al. (2012), different vegetable crops grown on heavy metal contaminated soil show marked difference in metal accumulation, their uptake and distribution pattern. Crop species also showed remarkable difference in metal concentration of various plant parts. Generally, based on metal accumulation in edible parts and whole plants, the root and leafy vegetables showed higher distribution of metals to the edible parts, whereas fruit type vegetables exhibited least transport of metals to fruits (Singh et al., 2012).

trigger action value (TAV) for trace metals in agricultural soils (mg kg ⁻¹)		
Metal	MAC ^a	TAV ^b
As	15–20	10–65
Cd	1–5	2–20
Cu	60–150	60–500
Pb	20–300	50-300
Zn	100–300	200–1500

Table 1: Ranges of maximum allowable concentrations (MAC) or

Source: Kabata- Pendias (2011).

Table 2: Heavy metal composition of typical uncontaminated soils and agricultural crops on dry weight basis (mg kg⁻¹)

Heavy metals	Range in soil	Range in agricultural crops
Cd	0.01–0.7	0.2–0.8
Cu	2–100	4–15
Fe	7,000–55,000	_
Mn	100-4,000	15-100
Pb	2–200	0.1–10
Zn	10–300	15–200

Source: Alloway (2011).

A brief history of mine reclamation

Prior to the Sixteenth Century, mines and quarries, with some exceptions, were primitive, usually small, and dominated by manual labour, (Hoover and Hoover, 1950) marks the start of the era of modern mining. Mines typically disturbed only a few hectares and the loss of land use and offsite impacts were often small and unimportant to society and hence reclamation was not considered. In the following centuries, the average size of mines increased (Gordon, 2002) Starting in the 1940s, there was development of large earth moving equipment and modern accounting and investment methods that permitted an expansion into large mining activities. Most open pit mines today disturb a few thousand hectares, the largest disturb tens of thousands of hectares – the size of modest cities. And as the economics of moving vast amounts of the earth improved, lower grade ores are mined – typically less than five percent of the rock and soil moved is ore (and often much less than one percent), the rest is waste. More than ever, mining is an exercise in waste management (Hutchison & Ellison, 1992).

Coincident with the enlargement in mine disturbances over the past five decades, has been a change in focus from taming the environment to one of protecting the environment (Cronon, 1995). Perhaps ironically, the wealth created in part by mining, has led to increased concern for the environment by society. The impacts of primary industries (agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining) on the environment are under increasing scrutiny. Regulations requiring mine reclamation started in the 1960s. As increasing population exerts ever-increasing pressures upon the finite land base, society recognizes

the need to balance the environmental disruption and landscape changes caused by mining (Gordon, 2002).

In return for being permitted to reap the mineral wealth from the land, the mining industry has, in essence, formed a social contract with society – that after mining, using some of the profits from mining, the land will be restored to a safe and useful state. Miners have adopted a mantra of "temporary use of the land" (Kumar, 2013). This social contract forms the basis of government legislation, policy, and regulations that attempt to form a more clearly defined obligation on the part of the mining companies.

Remediation of Mined Soils

Mining generates considerable waste materials and tailings, which are deposited on the surface as mine spoil dumps. Removal of fertile topsoil, formation of unstable slopes prone to sliding and erosion, and siltation of water bodies due to wash off of mineral overburden dumps are also major negative effects of mining. The metals released from mining, smelting, forging, and other sources would accumulate in the soil, altering its chemistry (Khan et al., 2009). Metal contamination is not restricted to the mining site only because, considerable release of metals occurs through acid mine drainage and erosion of waste dumps and tailing deposits (Kumar, 2013).

Current conventional methods to remediate heavy metal contaminated soil and water, such as ex situ excavation, landfill of the top contaminated soils detoxification and physico-chemical remediation are expensive, time consuming, labour exhaustive and increase the mobilization of contaminants, and destroy the biotic and structure of the soil (Danh et al., 2009). These remediation techniques therefore, are not technically or financially suitable for

large contaminated areas. Bioremediation was developed as a technology to degrade pollutants into a low toxic level by using microorganisms. However, the use of this technology to remediate contaminated areas by applying living organism was less successful for extensive metal and organic pollutants. Plants are able to metabolize substances produced in natural ecosystems. Phytoremediation/re-vegetation is an approach in which plants are applied to detoxify contaminated areas (Ahmadpour et al., 2012).

Reclamation of mine dumps and abandoned mine lands (AML) is a complex multi-step process. The first step in transforming the mine contaminated lands into productive agricultural lands is restoring its ecological integrity (Sheoran & Sheoran, 2009; Juwarkar & Singh, 2010). Most AML sites and many active mining or re-mining sites however, lack any true topsoil and often consist primarily of mine spoils or overburden whose properties can range from loose, coarse textured material with many rock fragments, to highly compacted clay material. Broadly, two types of effects are plausible: excesses (supra-optimal levels of chemical elements including metal ions) and deficiencies (suboptimal concentrations of essential elements). Mine contaminated soils thus, represent a very harsh environment for crop production (e.g., phytotoxicity and high acid production potentials of waste materials, low fertility, and limited topsoil availability). The principal restoration options are therefore, ameliorative (improving the physical and chemical nature of the site) and adaptive (careful selection of species, cultivars, or ecotypes) (Kumar, 2013).

35

Re-vegetation and its importance

Throughout the world re-vegetation is carried out in an attempt to restore habitat, influence and improve water quality, preserve threatened flora and fauna, control and mitigate soil erosion, rehabilitate areas devastated by mining and provide shelter for livestock. The removal of woody vegetation has also indirectly led to emission of carbon and loss of nutrients in soils globally and re-vegetation may provide a pathway to restoring these vital ecological cycles. The potential for re-vegetation to restore habitat as well as provide nutrient recycling and carbon sequestration services is a highly relevant topic at this time in the global climate and agriculture (Yadav et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2011).

According to Liping et al. (2009) re-vegetation is the most widely accepted and useful practice for reduction of erosion and protection against soil degradation. Many countries have adopted re-vegetation as an important measure to restore and reconstruct natural ecosystems. Re-vegetation does not only increase the land cover with improved plant diversity, but can also strengthen the soil capacity by conserving water and increasing the soil fertility level. Various studies have demonstrated that re-vegetation has a great effect on soil nutrients and enzymatic activities (Liping et al., 2009).

Furthermore, the effects of re-vegetation on soil nutrient and biological properties are reflected in deeper soil layers as the re-vegetation time increases. As reported by Liping et al. (2009), after more than 20 years of restoration with artificial vegetation coupled with the cessation of grazing in the Zhifanggou Watershed, the plant communities had obvious effects on soil nutrient accumulation. They also found that the soil nutrient content was

higher in the 0 - 20 cm than in 20 - 40 cm layer. The contents of soil organic matter, total nitrogen, available N and P, sucrase, urease and neutral phosphatase in an abandoned pasture all decreased as the soil depth increased, but that, all of these values increased with time (Liping et al., 2009).

Two important distinct processes when it comes to re-vegetation are restoration and rehabilitation. There are distinct and diverse differences between the aims and outcomes of rehabilitation and restoration which are quite often overlooked when the success or merits of re-vegetation efforts are assessed (Zedler, 2007). It is critical to outline by which standard definition the re-vegetation is part of and assessed, accordingly. The distinct differences in definitions will impact on whether the re-vegetation will be determined as a success or failure in the years after planting. Re-vegetation is the process carried out for a number of reasons including farm forestry and forestry operations, ecosystem and biodiversity enrichment, amenity, erosion and water movement control, stock comfort and naturally regenerating vegetation (Atyeo & Thackway, 2009).

Restoration

Broadly, the term 'ecological restoration' has been interpreted to mean the processes involved in returning an altered, dysfunctional and or degraded landscape to a functioning healthy ecosystem (Willis, 2012). According to Willis (2012), ecological restoration is the process of assisting the recovery of an ecosystem that has been degraded, damaged or destroyed. The overall aim is to restore a damaged ecosystem to its pre-disturbed condition however, the success of restoration is not measured on whether it has achieved its former state but rather that, it becomes a functioning, self-sustaining and environmentally resilient ecosystem (Society for Ecological Restoration International Science & Policy Working Group, 2004). Restoration is the activity that accelerates the recovery of the ecosystem in terms of the ecological connections and functions of the system, the structure and diversity of species, and the ability of the ecosystem to support biota (Willis, 2012).

Rehabilitation

The words rehabilitation and restoration are often, and incorrectly, interchanged when referring to re-vegetation. Rehabilitation is any act which seeks to improve a landscape from a degraded state but not necessarily to a functioning healthy ecosystem. Catalysts for rehabilitation include the lowering of water tables, providing shelter for livestock and crops, improving water quality, improving aesthetic conditions, providing habitat by re-establishing native vegetation to a previously denuded landscape producing timber (Fenton, 2010), carbon sequestration (Yadav et al., 2009) and land stabilization (Willis, 2012).

Gauging the success of Re-vegetation

Success is a subjective term interpreted in different ways by different people. It can be especially subject based when applied to analyzing individual aspects of a whole ecosystem (Willis, 2012). The term success is defined broadly by the Oxford dictionary as

- ➤ the accomplishment of an aim or purpose,
- the good or bad outcome of an undertaking

From this definition and when positioned within the context of assessment of re-vegetation, the re-vegetation should begin with clearly defined aims and or purposes for comparison along a timeline, and can also be assessed as either a

success or failure on account of the outcomes which were defined at the beginning of the re-vegetation. The difficulty when gauging success in a multi-faceted system such as an ecosystem is the aspect on which you are gauging the success. For the purposes of this research, success of the revegetated mine areas will be assesses by the ability of the re-vegetated mine land to:

- provide soil nutrients for plant growth
- reduce the availability of heavy metals to acceptable level both in soil and crops grown

Plant species used for Re-vegetation and their impacts on soil

The re-vegetation of eroded ecosystems must be carried out with plants selected on the basis of their ability to survive and regenerate or reproduce under severe conditions provided both by the nature of the dump material, the exposed situation on the dump surface and on their ability to stabilize the soil structure (Madejon et al., 2006). The normal practice for re-vegetation is to choose drought-resistant, fast growing crops or fodder which can grow in nutrient deficient soils. Selected plants should be easy to establish, grow quickly, and have dense canopies and root systems. In certain areas, the main factor preventing vegetative growth is acidity. Plants must be tolerant of metal contaminants for such sites. Role of exotic or native species in reclamation needs careful consideration as newly introduced exotic species may become pests in other situations. Therefore, candidate species for vegetation should be screened carefully to avoid becoming problematic weeds in relation to local to regional floristic. For artificial introduction, selection of species that are well adapted to the local environment should be emphasized. Indigenous species

are preferable to exotics because they are most likely to fit into fully functional ecosystem and are climatically adapted (Sheoran et al., 2010).

Grasses are considered as nurse crop for an early vegetation purpose. Grasses have both positive and negative effects on mine lands. They are frequently needed to stabilize soils but they may compete with woody regeneration. Grasses, particularly C4 ones, can offer superior tolerance to drought, low soil nutrients and other climatic stresses. Roots of grasses are fibrous that can reduce erosion and their soil forming tendencies eventually produce a layer of organic soil, stabilize soil, conserve soil moisture and may compete with weedy species. The initial cover must allow the development of diverse self-sustaining plant communities (Sheoran et al., 2010). Trees can potentially improve soils through numerous processes, including maintenance or increase of soil organic matter, biological nitrogen fixation, uptake of nutrients from below and reach of roots of under storey herbaceous vegetation, increase water infiltration and storage, reduce loss of nutrients by erosion and leaching, improve soil physical properties, reduce soil acidity and improve physical properties, reduce soil acidity and improve soil biological activity. Also, new self-sustaining top soils are created by trees. Plant litter and root exudates provide nutrient-cycling to soil. On mine spoils, nitrogen is a major limiting nutrient and regular addition of fertilizer nitrogen may be required to maintain healthy growth and persistence of vegetation (Yang et al., 2003). An alternative approach might be to introduce legumes and other nitrogen-fixing species. Nitrogen fixing species have a dramatic effect on soil fertility through production of readily decomposable nutrient rich litter and turnover of fine roots and nodules. Mineralization of N-rich litter from these

species allow substantial transfer to companion species and subsequent cycling, thus enabling the development of a self-sustaining ecosystem (Sheoran et al., 2010). Sheoran et al. (2010) further reported that native leguminous species show greater improvement in soil fertility parameters in comparison to native non-leguminous species. Also, native legumes are more efficient in bringing out differences in soil properties than exotic legumes in the short term.

Generally, a mix of plant species is required because it is impossible to predict the success of any one species in marginal environments where the vegetation is going to receive little or no maintenance. Monocultures are disadvantaged due to the vulnerability to pests and diseases, they do not satisfy fully the multiple use and conservation roles, do not provide a balanced ecosystem and also they fail in providing more balance stable system in the face of environmental variability and directional change than mixed cultures (Mensah, 2015).

Mixed forestry systems, on the other hand, might be more stable as they sequester carbon more securely in the long term. In short, mixed systems could offer more to mitigating climate change than monocultures. The species mix should include grasses, forbs and woody species, both bushes and trees, except where specific requirements make such a mix undesirable, as with some types of gully reclamation or along pipe line corridors (Mensah, 2015). Zhang et al. (2006) had found that the annual litter amount of 55-year old *Pinus massoniana* and *M. macclurei* mixed forest was 11.2% higher than that of a similar-aged *P. massoniana* stand. Species composition is important for litter production within the same climate range (Yang et al., 2004).

Role of Re-vegetation in Improving the Soil physical properties

Re-vegetation plays very important roles in improving the soil physical properties. Some of the soil properties that re-vegetation improves are elaborated below.

Maintenance or improvement of soil physical conditions

The superior soil structure, porosity, moisture characteristics and erosion resistance under forest is well documented, as is their decline on forest clearance. Porosity is key to many physical properties: pores of 5-50 μ m in diameter determine available water holding capacity, while those of over 250 μ m in diameter are necessary for root penetration (Mensah, 2015). Compaction occurred during degrading of overburden and topsoil, mining, and reclamation activities at the time of unfavourable moisture conditions, and because of insufficient time for the soil-forming processes to decrease bulk density. Mensah, (2015) explained that abrupt increase in bulk density at the 30 cm depth is due to overburden and spoil material being extensively graded before topsoil application and the presence of large amounts of rock fragments at depths below 30 cm and that water content of the soil is an important property that controls its behaviour.

Improvement of infiltration and soil moisture availability/content

Ground vegetation, such as grasses will protect the slope against erosion by rain drop impact and runoff, and also trap moving sediments, while shrubs and trees will increase the strength of the soil through root reinforcement. Vegetation increases the infiltration of water into the soil (Mensah, 2015). However, this can cause problems where rainfall amounts and intensities are very high. Whilst the resulting reduction of in runoff will

help control surface erosion, the increased moisture content of the soil may exacerbate the rate of mass soil failure (Singh et al., 2002). They further reported that the reduction in runoff is, to a small degree, caused by canopy interception and direct transpiration, but the greater part of its results from higher soil infiltration capacity under trees.

Breaking of compact layers by roots

The improvement in surface protection causes a reduction in crusting and effect in compaction leading to increased infiltration; less leaching and prevention of erosion (Mensah, 2015).

Modification of extremes of soil temperature

There is experimental evidence from studies of minimum tillage that a ground surface litter cover greatly reduces the extremely high ground temperatures sometimes over 50°C that is expected on bare soils in the tropics (Singh et al., 2004). Mensah, (2015) points out that bare soil absorbs heat and becomes very hot during dry season very quickly and becomes very cold during the rainy season, but this will not happen if the surface of the land is kept covered with vegetation which serves to insulate the soil. In this case, the soil will neither become too hot or too cold.

Improvement of soil texture and soil structure

According to Mensah (2015), significant variations in silt and clay suggest that plantations are capable of changing the soil texture after their establishment and growth in due course. Singh (1993) indicated that the textures of mine spoils are drastically disturbed due to irregular pilling of overburden materials. The naturally re-vegetating mine spoil of five years ago showed percentages of sand, silt and clay as 61, 25 and 14. Particle size distribution is a major soil physical factor governing a successful re-vegetation on reclaimed land as it influences water holding capacity, bulk density, soil moisture availability and nutrient contents as well as availability.

Role of re-vegetation in improving the soil chemical properties

Reduction of soil acidity

Liter from trees tend to motivate the effect of leaching through addition of bases to the soil surface. However, whether tree litter can be a significant means of raising pH of acid soils is doubtful, owing to the orders of magnitude involved. One of the reasons for the above is that the calcium which trees supply through litter fall is insufficient to reduce the acidity even by a one pH point (Singh et al., 2002).

According to Singh et al. (2004), there are even cases where, in the temperate zone, tress produce acid, mor-type humus, which can lead to appreciable increase in soil acidification. However, experiments have also proven that the bases released by litter decay can check acidification. The increase in pH due to plantations suggests that the organic matter input modifies the pH of the soil. Since most plant species used for re-vegetation are dicotyledonous, these may release more base cations like Ca^{2+} into the soil and thus increase the pH of the soil more than the fresh mine spoil (Mensah, 2015).

Reduction of salinity or sodicity

Afforestation has been successfully employed as a means of reclaiming saline and alkaline soils (Singh et al., 2004). For example, under *Acacia nilotica* and *Eucalyptus tereticornis* in Karnal, India, lowering of top soil

pH from 10.5 to 9.5 in five years and of electrical conductivity from 4 to 2 dSm⁻¹ have been reported, but with trees establishment assisted by additions of gypsum and manure (Singh et al., 2004).

Reduction of the rate of organic matter decomposition

It is known that the rate of loss of humified organic matter is lower in forest than agriculture. Reduction in temperature by the tree canopy and litter cover is implicated in this observation (Singh et al., 2002).

Availability of nitrogen

Nitrogen is believed to be absorbed from the atmosphere and stored in the soil, which is then taken up in the form of nitrates by plants for use. The root nodules found on especially leguminous species help to achieve this. Leguminous cover crops such as *Pueraria, Centrosema* and *Calapogonium* are more effective. Tree species such as *Leucaena leucocephala* and other leguminous tree species are also equally effective. The nitrogen absorbed from the atmosphere in turn contributes to improving the soil fertility. The litter fall which improves the organic matter status of the soil eventually provides a favourable soil environment for N-fixation (Mensah, 2015).

Availability of phosphorus

Mineralized P is found to be higher in soils treated with organic matter. However, the total P accumulation in stem and bark is far greater than in leaves alone. P in the surface litter only accounts for small percentage of the total accumulation in the forest. It has been suggested that phosphorus deficiency is the inhibitive factor resulting in slow growth of *Acacia mangium* (Mensah, 2015).

Methods used in Re-vegetation process

Agricultural Approach

Williams et al. (1998) expounded that the agricultural approach, although somewhat outdated, has been used most often for re-vegetation in the past and is still the approach dictated by The Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (SMCRA) of 1977 regulations for coal mining projects. The agricultural approach generally employs standard methods of replacing the topsoil, fertilizer application, and planting typical reclamation species to revegetate disturbed land. Unfortunately, topsoil was not routinely salvaged during most historic mining activities and is not always available for use. Since the soils in the area surrounding most mine sites are naturally mineralized, importing suitable soils typically requires long, uneconomic haul distances. Therefore, the ameliorative and adaptive approaches, which directly re-vegetate mine sites without top soil, are often desirable. Although developed and used in Europe since the 1960s, it is believed the first successful utilization of both ameliorative and adaptive approaches on the North American continent was at the California Gulch Superfund site located near Leadville, Colorado in 1992. The approach used for the re-vegetation of this site was documented in the May/June 1996 issue of Land and Water magazine.

Ameliorative Approach

Paul et al. (2012) indicated that the ameliorative approach involves chemically modifying the soils to correct whatever problems are faced. Using species that are not tolerant of elevated levels of heavy metals introduces the need for waste treatment and amelioration, to alleviate toxicity and acidity,

until vegetation becomes self-sustaining. Then the plants themselves may control the hostile conditions in the waste.

Paul et al. (2012) further argued that the aim of the approach was to determine the most effective method of controlling acidity and the release of toxic metals in mine land, with a view to allowing the successful growth of non-tolerant plant species. Prediction of pollutant movements through and away from the waste, by the establishment of toxic element dispersion mechanisms and patterns, was originally suggested as a way of improving reclamation strategies. Each case of contamination is unique and there is a need for a flexible predictive model. By determining the form of toxic elements and the routes of dispersal, greater insight into their impact on planned re-vegetation strategies can be gained (Paul et al., 2012).

Along with predictive modeling, novel methods of amelioration have been developed, the success of which will derive from the correct prediction of the variable conditions normally found within the boundaries of a derelict site. These novel methods of reclamation must overcome the hostile chemical, physical and biological characteristics of the spoil. Acidic mine spoils are particularly hostile to vegetation due to direct damage inflicted on plant roots and uptake mechanisms by hydrogen ions and also by the presence of plantavailable heavy metals. The use of various industrial minerals as in-situ amendments to the waste has been intensively investigated, and the initial results show that they have great promise in controlling acidity and release of metals into solution. Unfortunately previous research has indicated that the control of acidity can sometimes clash with control of metals in solution (Paul et al., 2012).

Adaptive Approach

Williams et al. (1999) further elucidated that the adaptive approach involves identifying, specifying and establishing plants which are ecotypically differentiated, or adapted and tolerant of the site conditions. The method involves utilizing tissue culture techniques and growth media adjusted chemically to emulate the specific site conditions. A plant's germination and initial root growth response are indicative of its response to actual site conditions. In previous work, approximately 1000 species and varieties of the genera *Agropyron* (Wheatgrass), *Festuca* (Fescue), *Agrostis* (Bentgrass), *Phleum* (Timothy), *Poa* (Bluegrass) and *Vicia* (Vetch) have been tested utilizing the in-vitro methodology. Several varieties of the species *Festuca rubra* (Red fescue), *Agrostis tenius* (Colonial bentgrass), *Phleum ptatense* (Timothy) and *Achillea mellefolium* (Yarrow) were identified to be tolerant to low pH and high metal concentrations which are common on mineralized sites. Varieties of some of these particular species were previously unknown to be tolerant of these typical site conditions (Williams et al., 1999).

In addition to low pH, high metal concentrations and the often erodible nature of the soils, reclamation at historic mine sites is often further complicated by steep slopes and severe exposure problems related to mountainous area and high altitude. The combination of poor soil physical and chemical conditions and severe exposure difficulties can make natural recovery impossible and human rehabilitation very difficult in disturbed areas. Disturbed areas which have remained barren since their initial disturbance over 100 years ago are common. Previous attempts to re-vegetate these areas

have often produced results which were less than acceptable to the concerned parties (Williams et al., 1999).

Cultivation of Cassava (Manihot esculenta)

Cassava, which can grow well on marginal lands, is one of the most important staple foods in Ghana. Cassava production represents approximately 50% of all roots and tubers production in the country. The majority of cassava is grown by small-scale farmers with small landholdings. At that scale production, harvesting, and post-harvest handling are carried out with limited chemical and technical inputs. It is grown in all regions of Ghana but is particularly abundant in Central, Eastern, Brong Ahafo, Volta, and Ashanti regions (Ulrich et al., 2013). According to the statistics of MOFA production of cassava roots has increased by almost 40% from 2007 to 2011. In large part this is due to an increase in average yield per hectare of 26% over that period from 12.76 to 16.17 tonnes per hectare. The amount of land under cultivation has increased 11% in that time (Ulrich et al., 2013).

The main planting season for cassava is during the rainy season from May to September. Cassava is harvested approximately 12 months after planting so harvesting can take place any time from March to October (in an average year). The largest percentage of the cassava root harvest comes onto the market in the early part of the wet season (May to July) before planting begins. Harvesting labour accounts for 15-20% of cassava root production costs. Cassava can grow and produce reasonable yields on soils where many other crops would fail. It is highly tolerant of soils with low levels of phosphorus and can generally grow even with no application of P-fertilizer. That is because cassava has formed a mutually beneficial association with a

group of soil fungi called "vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae". Present in practically all natural soils, mycorrhizae penetrate the cassava root and feed on the sugars it produces. In exchange, the fungi's long filaments transport phosphorus and micronutrients to the root from a greater volume of the surrounding soil than the root alone could reach. That symbiotic association allows cassava to absorb sufficient phosphorus for healthy growth. Cassava can also be grown on very acid and low-fertility soils because it tolerates low pH and the associated high levels of exchangeable aluminium. While the yields of crops such as maize and rice are usually affected strongly when the soil pH is below 5 and aluminium saturation is above 50 per cent, cassava yields are normally not affected until the soil pH is below 4.2 and aluminium saturation is above 80 per cent. For that reason, cassava may not require large amounts of lime in acid soils, where other crops would not grow without them (FAO, 2013).

Processing Cassava has traditionally been regarded as 'poor man's food' but increasingly its utilities as a cash crop are being recognized. Opportunities exist for earning incomes from processed cassava products, but significant constraints also continue to place restrictions on some opportunities (Ulrich et al., 2013). Cassava is processed to control deterioration of roots and decrease toxicity. Due to its high perishability and potential high cyanide content fresh cassava roots should be processed within 1-2 days of harvesting. These factors, combined with high moisture content of approximately 70%, restrict the marketing and transportation options for cassava. During a recent study by both farmers and processors stated that sufficient roots are available and there have been some yield improvements with new varieties. Of the roots

harvested in Ghana approximately 50% of cassava is either consumed or sold as fresh roots to produce (at household level) boiled or pounded cassava (Fufu) (Ulrich et al., 2013). The major pests of cassava in SSA are the cassava green mite and the variegated grasshopper. The main diseases affecting cassava are cassava mosaic disease (CMD), cassava bacterial blight, cassava anthracnose disease, and root rot.

Summary of Literature Review

The review has shown that re-vegetation plays important role in the reclamation of mined lands by improving soil fertility. Obviously, there is no documented research information on the use of reclaimed mined land for crops production in Ghana. In view of the growing food insecure populations of the world it is important to research in to the safe use of re-vegetated mined lands for agricultural productivity especially, in Ghana. Re-vegetated site must only be gauged a success or failure based on the motivations for which the re-vegetation was undertaken. A re-vegetated mined site may be successful at stabilizing soil structure and improving the organic content of the soil, and on that scale the re-vegetation is a success, it can also be sufficient ecological sustainable but not adequate for agricultural (crop) production. These therefore, informed the choice of the topic, formulation of hypothesis and objectives of the present study.

51

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODS

This section presents a brief account as well as the description of the study area, and the methodological approaches carried out in order to achieve the set out objectives of the study as well as materials/tools used.

Description of Study Area

The research was carried out at Obuasi, located in the Ashanti Region of Ghana. It is about 64 km south of Kumasi, the regional capital and 300 km north-west of Accra, the capital of Ghana. It is situated on latitude 6° 12' 00'' North and longitude 1° 40' 00'' West. It is located in the tropical evergreen rain forest belt. It covers an area of about 162.4 km² and is bounded on the south by Upper Denkyira District of the Central Region, east by the Adansi South District, west by the Amansie Central District and north by the Adansi North District. The climate is of the semi-equatorial type with a double rainfall regime. Total annual rainfall is about 1700 mm. Mean average annual temperature is 25.5 °C and relative humidity is 75-80 % in the wet season (Bempah, 2013).

The area is underlain by metavolcanic, pyroclastic and metasedimentary rocks. The metavolcanic rocks are of basaltic and gabbroic in composition whereas the metasedimentary rocks are mainly tuffaceous and carbonaceous phyllites, tuff, cherts and manganeferous sediments (Foli & Nude, 2012). These two units are contemporaneous and separated by a major shear zone. Intruding the metavolcanic and metasedimentary rocks are magmatic bodies and porphyritic granitoids consisting of hornblende-rich

varieties that are closely associated with the volcanic rocks, and mica-rich varieties which are found in the metasediment units. The Birimian is overlain by the Tarkwaian rocks made up of sedimentary units and also recent alluvial deposits. Gold ores contain high sulphide minerals, made up mainly of arsenopyrite and pyrite. The top 30-80 m of the subsurface is made up of porous rocks that mark the water table in the area (Foli & Nude, 2012). Rock porosity ranges from 1.0-5.0×10G7 m/s. These rocks have undergone some degree of weathering and consist mainly of clay deposits which have subsequently been hardened and altered. A cross section of the hills along the roads reveals the presence of an uneven distribution of quartz veins injected into the phyllites which break up on weathering to give rise to pisolithic and gravely pebbles (Boateng et al., 2012). The topography of Obuasi and its environs varies from gently undulating to hilly. There are moderately highelevated lands with lowlands and valleys between them. The highlands trend in different directions; they have flat and plateau tops and are generally amorphous in their shapes (Bempah et al., 2013). The FAO-UNESCO classification (1990) of the soils in the study area are Orthic-Ferric Acrisol (Adu, 1992) and belong to the order Ultisol (USDA Taxonomic System, 2005).

Two re-vegetatively restored mined spoils at AngloGold Ashanti gold mine were selected for the purpose of this study. These included a 17 year restored Nhyiaso and a 15 year restored T_1 sites. An original unmined site cropped with cassava was used as a control for the study.

53

Nhyiaso Re-vegetatively Restored Mined Spoil

The site is about 180 m to the west of the Nhyiaso pit across the main Obuasi-Dunkwa highway. It is adjacent to the Nhyiaso community where surface mining was undertaken in 1993 and suspended due to social considerations of closeness to the community and disturbance from blasting. It stands out as an isolated site with the area covered predominantly with *Acacia mangium*. The total dump surface area is 5.5 hectares with a height of 2m. The waste material is mainly phyllite. After suspension of operations, the dump was subsequently leveled to enable re-vegetation activities to commence in 1997. The land has attained maturity and currently encroached with community farms and portions used as a meeting ground for a community church. The predominant crop found at the farms are cassava and pepper. The proposed end-use for this dump is forestry development and covering 4.59 hectares (Abeiku, 2014).



Plate 1: A farm located at the Nhyiaso Re-vegetatively restored mined spoil



Plate 2: A church located at the Nhyiaso Re-vegetatively restored mined spoil

T₁ Re-vegetatively Restored Mined Spoil

This site is located adjacent the T_1 pit and close to the South tailings storage facility covering a total surface area of 8.3 hectares. Re-vegetation was done in 1999 with a variety of plant species dominated by *Acacia mangium*. Tree heights are approximately 9-10 m and diameter of 0.5 m. The site as similar to Nhyiaso has been encroached with community farms by clearing portions of the dump. Similar crops are cultivated. The slope angle is <18° as recommended by mining regulators for waste dump closure. The proposed end used for this dump is forestry development and covering 5.50 hectares (Abeiku, 2014).



Plate 3: T₁ Waste dump re-vegetated with varied stand of *Acacia* mangium

The potential source of heavy metal at the re-vegetated sites is the mine tailings which is a constituent of the substrate on which the plants grow. Nitrogen fixing plant such as *Acacia mangium* is predominantly used for the re-vegetation exercise. Previous top soils excavated prior to mining were kept for reclamation or re vegetation purposes. The mine spoils comprising the waste rock and tailings were used for the re-vegetation of the study areas. Currently, the top soil will be heaped and kept where it can simply be accessed and used during reclamation or re-vegetation.

Control Farm

A farm cropped with cassava and located across the main Obuasi-Dunkwa highway was used as a control for the study. The farm size was about 1.5 hectares and had no previous history of mining activities.

Experimental Design

The Completely Randomized Design was used for the study because earlier to the re-vegetation exercise the spoils were comprehensively mixed to ensure homogeneity. Five farms of about 0.3 ha each were randomly sampled

from two re-vegetatively restored mined spoils namely Nhyiaso, and T₁. Each farm at a particular restored mined spoil served as a replication. A total area of 1.5 ha for each re-vegetatively restored mined spoil and was used for the purpose of this study. Both Nhyiaso (N) and the T₁ sites were re-vegetated with *Acacia mangium* as a predominant plant species. The unmined control site of about 1.5 ha was planted to cassava (C). The control cassava farm was partitioned in to 5 plots with each plot size of 0.3 ha. Each 0.3 ha plot also served as a replication at the control farm. Therefore a total of 4.5 ha was used for the study.

Soil sampling and Sample preparation

Soil sampling was done during the months of June-July at a plough depths of (0 - 15) cm using the hand trowel and a worm auger. Five composite soil samples were taken at each of the re-vegetated mined land and the control farm. They were placed in a polyethylene bag and transported to the Soil Science Laboratory, University of Cape Coast and Ghana Atomic & Energy Commission in Accra. Approximately an area of one and half (1.5) hectare of land used for farming at each re-vegetated site was used for the sampling purposes. These samples were air dried in shallow wooden trays in a well-ventilated place protected from rain and contamination. The soil lumps were crushed to remove gravels and roots. All soil samples were passed through a 2 mm sieve by gently rubbing the crumbs through the mesh leaving the gravels and roots in the sieve. A sample of approximately 600 g was retained by cone and quartering for each sample.

Soil Physical Properties

Soil moisture content

Soil moisture content was determined by weighing 10 g of soil sample (M_1) using CP 224S Sartorius Analytical Balance into an aluminium dish covered with a lid and oven dried using the Towcen & Mercer oven at 105^{0} C till constant weight. The aluminium dish with the lid was removed from the oven and kept in a desiccator for 30 minutes to cool. The oven-dried soil with the can covered (M_3) was weighed (ISO, 1993) and the moisture content of the soil was calculated.

Particle size analysis

Soil particle size analysis was carried out using the pipette method as described by Rowell (1994). An amount of soil (10g + 0.01) was weighed into a 500 ml beaker. 20 mL of hydrogen peroxide was added and allowed to stand until frothing ceased. The suspension was then heated to complete the destruction of organic matter, and then allowed to cool. The peroxide-treated soil was quantitatively transferred into a 500 mL plastic bottle and 10 ml of dispersing agent added and the soil suspension was made up to 200 mL and shaken overnight. The contents were then transferred quantitatively into a 500 mL measuring cylinder and made up to 500 mL with distilled water. The suspension was then stirred using a plunger for thorough mixing. The suspension was drawn off from 10 cm below the surface into a weighed beaker. This gives the mass of silt and clay. The suspension was allowed to settle and 25 ml of the suspensions were drawn off at 10 cm depth after 5h. This gives the mass of clay. The pipetted suspensions were dried at 105°C till

constant weight. Most of the supernatant liquid was gently poured off and the sediment was quantitatively transferred into a beaker. The sediment was repeatedly washed through stirring, settling and decanting till a clear supernatant was obtained. The sand was transferred to a weighed beaker and dried at 105°C till constant weight.

Calculation:

Percentage sand $(m/m) = \frac{Mass \ of \ sand}{Mass \ of \ oven \ dry \ soil} \times 100$

The total mass of silt in the soil sample = Mass in $\frac{25mL \times 500}{25}$ Percentage silt = $\frac{Total Silt}{Mass of oven dry soil} \times 100$

The total mass of clay in the soil sample = Mass in $\frac{25 \, mL \times 500}{25}$ Percentage clay = $\frac{Total \, clay}{Mass \, of \, oven \, dry \, soil} \times 100$

The textural classes of the soil samples were determined using the USDA

textural triangle (Rowell, 1994).

Determination of bulk density and pore volume by the graduated cylinder method

An oven-dry soil to be used was prepared by passing it through a 10mm mesh sieve. A 100 mL graduated cylinder was weighed and the weight recorded. Enough sieved soil was added to the cylinder to fill it to near the 25 mL mark. The soil was compacted by dropping the cylinder 5 times from a height of 2 inches on several thickness of paper towels spread on the desk (the soil was compacted this way so that it will fill approximately the same volume that it occupied in a natural profile. Successive compaction of small increment gave more uniform compaction than if large volume was compacted all at a time. The paper toweling provided enough cushion to prevent breakage of the
cylinder). More of the soil was added to the cylinder until it was filled to a depth that was near the 75 mL mark and the soil compacted again. More soil was added to the cylinder until it was filled to a depth that was near the 100 mL mark. The volume occupied by the soil was read and the value recorded. (this was the volume of the soil). The cylinder plus the soil was weighed and the weight recorded. (this weight minus the weight of the cylinder only gives the weight of the soil). The bulk density of the soil was calculated by the equation below;

Bulk density g cm⁻³ = weight of oven dry soil (g) / Bulk volume of soil (c m³). Using a spatula some of the soil from the cylinder was removed until the level of the remaining compacted soil is exactly at level with the 50 mL mark. The soil from the cylinder was transferred to a weighed vessel and weighed together with the soil. Tap water was added to the graduated cylinder to the 50 mL mark. This established the initial volume. The weighed soil was returned to the cylinder in small increments with constant stirring. The suspension was stirred with a glass rod to remove air bubbles adhering to the soil particles. The final volume of the soil-water suspension in the graduated cylinder was the volume of the soil particles. The difference between the final volume of the soil particles. The difference between the final volume of the soil-water suspension in the graduated cylinder and the 100 mL mark was observed (which represented the combined volume of water plus particles plus pore space) (Black, et al., 1965).

Pore volume was calculated by the equation below;

Pore Volume (%) = $\frac{Pore Volume}{Bulk Volume} \times 100$

Soil Chemical Analysis

Soil pH

The pH of the soils was determined using RE357 (Tx) pH meter. All pH measurements were performed using a 1:2.5 (w/v) soil to distilled water ratio by weighing 20 g of the 2 mm air-dried soil into a 100 ml glass beaker and adding 50 mL distilled water. The soil was mixed with the distilled water and stirred intermittently using stirrer B211 for 30 minutes before pH was determined (Anderson and Ingram, 1993).

Total organic carbon

One gram of 0.5 mm air-dried soil sample was weighed into 500 ml Erlenmeyer flask. Ten millilitres of 0.1667 M K₂Cr₂O₇ solution was added from a burette into each flask and swirled gently to disperse the soil and 20 mL conc. H₂SO₄ was added using an automatic pipette directing the stream into the suspension. The flask was swirled gently until the soil and reagents were mixed. The flask was rotated and allowed to stand on porcelain for 30 minutes. Approximately 200 mL of distilled water was added after standing for 30 minutes. Three drops of diphenylamine sulphonate indicator was added and titrated with 1M Fe(NH4)₂(SO4)₂ solution. As the end point was approached, the solution took on a greenish cast and then changed to dark green. A blank titration was made in the same way. (Bray & Kurtz, 1945).

Total nitrogen

0.5g of the dried, finely grounded soil sample was weighed into a 50 mL round bottom Kjeldahl flask. 2 g H₂SO₄-HgO mixture was added. 3 mL of conc. H₂SO₄ was added running the acid slowly down the neck while rotating the flask. The flask was gently heat on a digestion rack until frothing subsides.

As the frothing subsides, a glass bubble was placed in the flask mouth and the heat increased (H₂SO₄ will now reflux down the flask neck). After the digestion became colourless or pale green heating was continued for about 15 minutes and subsequently increased to 1hour. On completion of the digestion, it was allowed to cool until just warm and then diluted to 100 mL with distilled water.

A steam distillation apparatus was set up and a steam passed through it for about 20 minutes. After flushing out the apparatus, a 100 mL conical flask containing 5 mL of boric acid indicator solution was placed under the condenser of the distillation apparatus. An aliquot of the sample digest was transferred to the reaction chamber through the trap funnel. 10 mL of alkali mixture was added and distillation immediately commenced. About 40 mL of distillate was collected. The distillate was titrated against M/140 HCl from green to the initial colour of the indicator (wine red). Digestion blanks were treated the same way and subtracted from the sample titre value. (Rowell, 1994).

Calculation:

 $N(\%) = \frac{(S-B) \times \text{solution volume}}{10^2 \times \text{aliquot} \times \text{sample weight}}$

Where;

S = Sample titre value

B = Blank titre value

Available phosphorus

One gram of 2 mm sieved air-dried soil was weighed into 50 mL extraction tube and 30 mL of extraction solution Bray 1 added. The mixture obtained was placed on a shaker, shaken for 3 minutes and filtered through

Whatwan No. 42 filter paper. Ten millilitres of the clear supernatant was pipetted into 50 mL volumetric flask and 5 mL distilled water added. Eight millilitres of Ascorbic Acid was added to each sample and waited for the blue colour formation. It was topped up to the 50 mL mark with distilled water. After 5 minutes the concentration of P was measured electrophotometrically at 660 nm wavelength using Perkin Elmer Lamda 45 ultra violet Spectrophometer (Watanabe & Olsen, 1965).

Exchangeable bases

Five grams of air-dried 2mm sieved soil was weighed into an extraction bottle and 50 ml of 1.0 *M* NH4OAc solution at pH 7.0. The bottle with its content was placed in a shaking machine and shaken for one hour. At the end of the shaking, the suspension was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant solution was filtered through No. 42 whatman filter paper. Twenty five (25) millilitres aliquots of the extract were used for the determination of Ca, Mg, Na, and K (Rhoades, 1982). Calcium and Magnesium were determined on the 210 VGP Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer; and Potassium and Sodium by Jenway PFP7 Flame Photometer (Williams ,1949).

Exchangeable acidity

Ten grams of 2 mm sieve soil was weighed into a 100 mL plastic extraction bottle and 50 ml of 1.0 M KCl solution was added. It was shaken for 30 minutes and the suspension was filtered into an empty clean bottle. Twenty five (25) millilitres aliquot of the filtrate was pipetted into a 100 mL conical flask. Two to three drops of phenolphthalein indicator was added and titrated to a permanent pink end point using 0.01 *M* NaOH. The titre for NaOH

was recorded. This represented both H^+ and Al^{3+} . The solution was brought back to colourless by adding one drop of 0.01 *M* HCl. Ten millilitres of NaF solution was added to complex aluminium. This was titrated with 0.01 *M* HCl to pink. The titre obtained represented exchangeable H^+ .

Calculation:

The exchangeable Al^{3+} was determined by the difference between exchangeable H^+ and Al^{3+} (exchangeable acidity) and exchangeable H^+ .

Exchangeable Al^{3+} = Exchangeable acidity - Exchangeable H^+ .

Effective Cation Exchange Capacity: This was estimated by summation of exchangeable bases and exchangeable acidity.

Heavy Metals Extraction from Soil Samples

About 1.5 g of soil sample was weighed into a previously acid washed labeled 100 mL polytetraflouroethylene (PTFE) Teflon bombs. 6ml of concentrated nitric acid (HNO₃, 65%), 3 mL of concentrated hydrochloric acid (HCl,35%) and 0.25 mL of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂,30%) was added to each sample in a fume chamber. The samples were then loaded on the microwave carousel. The vessel caps were secured tightly using a wrench. The complete assembly was microwave irradiated for 26 minutes using milestone microwave lab station ETHOS 900, INSTR: MLS-1200 MEGA using the microwave programme. After digestion, the Teflon bombs mounted on the microwave carousel were cooled in a water bath to reduce internal pressure and allow volatilized material to re- stabilize. The digestate was made up to 20 mL with double distilled water and assayed for the presence of Zinc, Copper, Iron, Arsenic, Lead and Cadmium using VARIAN AA 240FS- Atomic Absorption Spectrometer in an acetylene- air flame (Harmsen, 1997).

Reference standards used for the elements of interest, blanks and duplicates of samples were digested the same conditions as the samples. These served as internal positive controls. The following Quality Control and Quality Assurance techniques were used during the analysis:

Blanks: They were to check contamination during sample preparation.

Duplicates: To check the reproducibility of the method used.

Standards: To check the efficiency of the equipment being used (Sabienë, & Rimmer, 2004).

Potassium was determined on the Jenway PFP7 Flame Photometer. The concentrations of calcium, magnesium, copper, zinc, iron, arsenic and lead were read on the Perkin Elmer A Analyst 400 Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer. Total phosphorus was determined on the Spectrophotometer by the Ascorbic acid indicator method and Total Nitrogen using Boric acid indicator by titrimetric method. Total Carbon was determined using Potassium dichromate as described by Walkley and Black (1934).

Crop sampling and Sample preparation

Matured cassava tubers were randomly sampled from five farmers' fields at the two re-vegetated mined sites during the month of July, 2014. Below was the list of crops sampled from the various farms.

Oc- Cassava tubers from the control farm

Nc- Cassava tubers from farms located at Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil/land

Tc-Cassava tubers from farms located at T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil/land

Harvested edible parts were placed in separate paper bags and dried at 70 °C for 24 hours in a Memmert oven to minimize chemical and biological changes. The dried edible parts were milled to pass through 0.3 - 0.5 mm sieve using Brook Crompton, 2000 series grinding mill. The samples were re-dried at 70°C for 2 hours before analyzing for Cu, Zn, Fe, Mn, Pb, As and Cd.

Heavy metals extraction from crops sampled

About 0.5 g of milled cassava sample was weighed into a previously acid washed labeled 100 mL polytetraflouroethylene (PTFE) Teflon bombs.6ml of concentrated nitric acid (HNO₃, 65%), and 1mL of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂, 30%) was added to each sample in a fume chamber. The samples were then loaded on the microwave carousel. The vessel caps were secured tightly using a wrench. The complete assembly was microwave irradiated for 25 minutes using milestone microwave lab station ETHOS 900, INSTR: MLS-1200 MEGA using the microwave programme. After digestion the Teflon bombs mounted on the microwave carousel were cooled in a water bath to reduce internal pressure and allow volatilized material to re- stabilize. The digestate was made up to 20 mL with double distilled water and assayed for the presence of Zinc, Lead and Copper using VARIAN AA 240FS-Atomic Absorption Spectrometer in an acetylene- air flame. Reference standards used for the elements of interest, blanks and duplicates of samples were digested the same conditions as the samples. These served as internal positive controls.

Data Analyses

The data collected were subjected to statistical analysis using GENSTAT Statistical Package (Discovery edition 4) .Significance among treatments was at $p \le 0.05$ and means separation was done using Least Significant differences (LSD).

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The purpose of the study was to determine the effectiveness of revegetation process used to restore the mined spoils at the concession of AngloGold Ashanti Mine at Obuasi using cassava as a test crop. Soil and crop sampling were done randomly. Physico-chemical soil properties, heavy metals concentration in both the soil and crop were determined. GENSTAT Statistical Package (Discovery edition 4) was used for statistical analysis of the data. This chapter therefore presents the results and discusses the following: Selected physico-chemical properties of the soil, concentration of heavy metals both in soils and cassava tubers, translocation factors of heavy metals and finally, the partial correlation between heavy metals in soil and the cassava tubers.

Results:

Table 3:Selected physical properties of soils for various treatments
at AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Concession.

Treatment	Sand	Silt	Clay	Texture	GWC	Pore Vol.	BD
			%				gcm ⁻³
С	39.53	43.62	16.85	loam	20.99	32.00	1.37
Ν	43.90	42.63	13.87	loam	26.57	50.40	1.09
Т	31.33	47.02	22.05	loam	23.30	40.00	1.33
1.s.d0.05	8.38	7.17	6.72		4.57	0.71	0.11
s.e.	2.72	2.33	2.18		1.48	0.23	0.04
C= Original	unmine	d area	used f	for farmi	ng, N=	Nhyiaso	re-vegetatively

restored mined spoil, $T_{=}$ T_{1} re-vegetatively restored mined spoil, GWC= Gravimetric moisture content, BD= Dry bulk density

Selected Physical properties of the experimental soils

The results of the selected physical properties of the study soils are presented in Table 3. The particle size analysis showed per cent sand, silt and clay content of the study soils to range from 31.33 to 43.90, 42.63 to 47.02, and 13.87 to 22.05 respectively. The Nhyiaso soil had significantly ($p\leq0.05$) higher sand content than T₁ and vice versa for clay. The latter soil had significantly ($p\leq0.05$) clay content than C and N. in spite of this, the texture of all the study soils was loam.

The implication is that observed differences among soils of the study sites may be mainly due to the variations in the measured parameter rather than the texture. The loam texture has generally been observed to be ideal for cultivation of most crops (Goose, 2005). However, the relative performance of crop growth on these soils will depend, among other factors, on the fertility levels. In general, the bulk density of the top 15 cm depth of the soils at three sites, ranging from 1.09 to 1.37 g cm⁻³ was ideal for plant growth, with a trend of C > T > N. on a relative basis, the Nhyiaso soil, which had undergone 17 years of re-vegetation, recorded a significantly ($p \le 0.05$) the lowest bulk density. Although the bulk density of C and T did not differ significantly $(p \le 0.05)$, the re-vegetated sites (N and T) recorded lower bulk densities. The vegetative cover of the Acacia mangium and its accompanying litter fall, cushioning the soil against the impact forces of raindrops, may account for the reduced bulk density alongside the positive impacts of its ramifying rooting system and presumed presence of macrofauna, such as earthworms on soil aggregation and porosity (Agodzo & Adama, 2003). These same factors account for the recorded greater porosity and gravimetric water content at the

re-vegetatively restored mined soils. The absence of these factors, there is a tendency for bulk density to increase, as observed at site C. In spite of the observed differences, bulk density at all the sites fell within recommended ideal values of 1.1 to 1.5 g cm⁻³ for productive soils (Sheoran et al., 2010). Within this range favourable total porosity, aeration, soil infiltrability and moisture storage provide a conducive edaphic physical conditions for improved plant growth.

The results (Table 3), further showed that as bulk density increased, even within ideal range, there was a corresponding decrease in the total porosity of the soil. The values ranged from 32.0 to 50.4 % for C and N respectively with a decreasing trend of N > T > C, which was the inverse of the trend in bulk density. The differences in bulk density among the soils at the three sites were significant ($p \le 0.05$). The observed inverse trend is not surprising since the results (appendix IV) showed a significant negative correlation (r = -0.95) between bulk density and total porosity. From a base value of 50.40% at a bulk density of 1.09 g cm-3 at Nhyiaso, total porosity at T and C was reduced by 20 - 63% and 36.51% respectively. It has been observed that as total porosity of the soil is reduced, pore size distribution shifts towards smaller sizes and pore space continuity decrease to adversely affect water movement and availability, nutritional uptake and aeration (Sands et al., 1977). This underscores the importance of re-vegetation in improving the physical characteristics of the soil for enhanced productivity. As total porosity increased, so also did gravimetric water content with values ranging from 20.99% at c to 26.67% at N in the order of N>T>C. Whilst the difference between N and C was significant ($p \le 0.05$), that between the latter sites was

not. From a base value of 26.57% at a bulk density of 1.09 gcm-3 at site N, gravimetric water content at C and T decreased by 21% and 12.3% respectively. It appears that seventeen years of re-vegetation by *Acacia mangium* presents a minimum threshold period for observable significant changes in the soil's physical parameters examined.

According to Campbell and Henshall (2001), gravimetric soil water contents of air-dry (25°C) mineral soil are often less than 2 per cent, but as the soil approaches saturation, the water content may increase to values between 25 and 60 per cent, depending on soil type. Soil sampling was done during the months of June–July, 2014 when there was rainfall. Therefore, much moisture might have been added to the soils at the study area through atmospheric precipitation at the time of sampling. This could be the most probable reason for the general high moisture contents of the study area.

 Site		Exch	angeabl	e	Ex. Acidity	ECEC	pН	Tot	al	BS	Av.P
	K ⁺	Ca ²⁺	Mg^{2+}	Na ⁺				Ν	OC		
		cmol	_c kg ⁻¹					(%	6)		
С	8.75	13.31	17.19	1.74	16.39	57.38	6.39	0.44	3.87	40.99	106.04
Ν	7.26	12.72	12.49	1.57	13.61	46.64	5.60	0.19	1.62	34.04	19.29
Т	7.39	12.58	12.62	0.83	13.37	46.78	6.16	0.29	2.91	33.42	28.68
Lsd _{0.05}	0.15	0.42	0.47	0.19	0.34	0.82	0.68	0.12	0.59		2.28
s.e.	0.05	0.14	0.15	0.06	0.11	0.27	0.22	0.04	0.19		0.74

 Table 4:
 Selected chemical properties of soil for various sites at AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Concession

C= Unmined area used for farming, N= Nhyiaso re-vegetated mined site, $T_{=}T_{1}$ re-vegetated mined site

N = Nitrogen, OC=organic carbon, BS= Base saturation, Av. P= available phosphorus,

Soil Chemical Properties

Selected soil chemical properties of soils from the study area were presented in Table 4. The data revealed that the highest concentration of exchangeable potassium was recorded at the unmined area used for farming with a mean value of 8.75 cmol_c kg⁻¹. Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil recorded the lowest concentration of exchangeable potassium with a mean value of $7.26 \text{ cmol}_{c} \text{ kg}^{-1}$. The mean exchangeable potassium concentration (Table 4) between the unmined area used for farming and the two re-vegetatively restored mined spoils was significant ($p \le 0.05$). The T₁ revegetatively restored mined spoil had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher exchangeable potassium content than the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. According to soil test interpretation guide provided by Edward et al. (2012) exchangeable potassium values of; < 175, 175-280, and 280-800 mg kg⁻¹ were described as low, adequate and high respectively. Based on this description, the concentration of exchangeable K can be said to be low. The low levels of exchangeable potassium observed at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils could be attributed to high precipitation intensities which caused the leaching of the cation. The general low levels of organic carbon (Table 4) at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils could have favoured the leaching of the potassium ion. Organic carbon content of the soil reflects the amount of organic matter present in the soil and also serves as a source for macro nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and sulphur in addition to some micro nutrients.

The highest and lowest mean concentrations of exchangeable calcium were also recorded at unmined area used for farming and T_1 re-vegetatively

restored mined spoil with values of 13.31 cmol_c kg⁻¹ and 12.58 cmol_c kg⁻¹ respectively. The mean concentration of exchangeable calcium observed at the unmined area used for farming was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher than that of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. The differences in exchangeable Ca²⁺ can be attributed to variation of leaching losses, plant up take and the rate of organic matter decomposition at the study area. Edward et al. (2012) described exchangeable Ca²⁺ levels below 1000 mg kg⁻¹ as low and therefore same can be said of the exchangeable Ca²⁺ levels at the study area.

Whilst the unmined area used for farming showed 17.19 cmol_c kg⁻¹ as the highest mean concentration of exchangeable magnesium, the Nhyiaso revegetatively restored mined spoil recorded the lowest concentration of 12.49 cmol_c kg⁻¹. It can be inferred (Table 4) that the exchangeable magnesium at the unmined area used for farming was significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) than that of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. Surprisingly, the concentration of exchangeable magnesium followed the same trend as exchangeable potassium. Level of exchangeable Mg²⁺ can also be described as very low as compared to the <60 mg kg⁻¹ as postulated by Edward et al. (2012).

The highest mean exchangeable sodium concentration of 1.74 cmolc kg⁻¹ was observed at the unmined area used for farming. The lowest concentration value of 0.83 cmolc kg⁻¹ was observed at T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. The mean exchangeable sodium concentration (Table 4) of the unmined area used for farming was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher than that of the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. There is however no significant difference between the mean concentration of exchangeable sodium for both Nhyiaso and T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. The

74

acidic nature of the study area could be a major contributing factor for the low exchangeable sodium recorded. It was interesting to note that (Table 4) exchangeable sodium levels in the soil at the study area was the least. General low levels of the basic cations (K⁺, Ca²⁺ Mg²⁺ Na⁺) at the study area can be attributed to both acidification and leaching losses as reported by Bailey et al. (2005) who indicated that acidification usually leads to depletion of base cations because of the exchange between H⁺ and the bases. Owusu-Bennoah et al. (2000) also stated that low basic cation in most soil were due to plant uptake of exchangeable bases and leaching.

Meanwhile, the highest mean exchangeable acidity concentration was observed at unmined area used for farming and the lowest concentration was witnessed at the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil with values of 16.39 and 13.37 cmol_c kg⁻¹ respectively. The exchangeable acidity at unmined area used for farming was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher than the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. That of T₁ and Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil were however the same. The exchangeable acidity (Al³⁺ and H⁺) followed a similar trend as pH (Table 4). This conforms to the observation made by Oyedele et al. (2009) who also found that soil exchangeable acidity (Al³⁺ and H⁺) followed a pattern similar to pH showing that Al³⁺ contributed most to the acidity of the soil. There was a direct relationship between pH and the exchangeable bases.

The concentration of ECEC ranged from 57.38 cmol_c kg⁻¹ to 46.64 cmol_c kg⁻¹. The results (table 4) showed that, the ECEC of the unmined area used for farming was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher than that of the revegetatively restored mined spoils. The high ECEC values recorded at the

study area could easily be attributed to the combine low effect of the basic cations (Table 4) and also the high values of the exchangeable acidity $(Al^{3+} and H^+)$ of the study area.

The pH of the study area was generally acidic. However, using the descriptive ranges of soil pH as stated in Soil Survey Division staff (1993), except for the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil which was moderately acidic, the rest of the sites were slightly acidic. Typical of mined soils, the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils had low pH values as compared to the unmined area used for farming (Table 4). The un-mined area therefore registered a relatively higher pH values than the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. The low levels of both exchangeable cation and organic carbon might have accounted for this observation. More importantly was the accumulation of aluminium from the mine spoil due to mining of the Orthic-Ferric Acrisol at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. Furthermore, disturbance of the soil through mining usually increases soil aeration which could enhance oxidation of minerals such as arsenopyrites to sulphuric acid to reduce soil pH.

Data from Table 4 show that, the maximum mean total nitrogen was observed at unmined area used for farming with 0.44%. The lowest was observed at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil with a value of 0.19%. The mean total nitrogen observed at the unmined area used for farming was significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) than that of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. This observation is not surprising due to the fact that *Acacia mangium* trees that had the potential to fix nitrogen in the soil were felled to allow for farming. There was however no significant difference between the

re-vegetatively restored mined spoils with regards to the mean total nitrogen contents. Edward et al. (2012) described soil total nitrogen per cent ranges of 0.05-0.13% as low, 0.13-0.23% adequate and 0.23-0.30% as high. It can therefore be inferred that, the mean total nitrogen per cent of the soils from the study area were high except for Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined site which was adequate.

The mean total organic carbon of the study area showed the highest value of 3.87% at the unmined area used for farming. The lowest occurred at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil with a value 1.62%. The mean total organic carbon observed at the unmined area used for farming was significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) than that of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. This could be due to the high accumulation and slow decomposition rate of plant residue at the unmined area used for farming as compared to the restored mined spoils. The low content of soil organic carbon observed at the restored mined spoils clearly reflects the impact of mining on degradation with attendant loss of soil carbon. Another reason might be due to rapid decomposition rate at the sites and the indiscriminate rate of felling of *Acacia mangium* tree species used for the re-vegetation to create space for farming. This will intern reduce the amount of litter fall on the soil surface.

The mean organic carbon content at the Nhyiaso (1.6%) comparative to the T₁ (2.91%) restored mined site is noteworthy. It should be noted that preferred results of accumulated carbon will be achieved only when revegetated trees are kept continuously growing. Although re-vegetation works were implemented 17 and 15 years ago at both Nhyiaso and T₁ sites, the trees on the T₁ site were maintained while those at Nhyiaso were cut early and the

soil cultivated to food crops using traditional methods with no external nutrients inputs. In this respect, the gap in carbon content between T_1 and Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoils could be attributed to nutrient mining by cultivated crops. It is therefore necessary that for the desired effect of re-vegetation to be achieved clear guide lines must be established on the minimum lifespan of re-vegetated trees that must pass before some trees are cut to allow for farming. This conforms to the observation made by Witmann et al. (2012).

The mean total organic carbon observed at the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil was also significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) than that of the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. This observed difference could be due to the early felling of the tree species at the Nhyiaso restored mined spoil to allow for farming. Organic carbon content of the soil reflects the amount of organic matter present in the soil and also serves as a source for macronutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and sulphur in addition to some micronutrients. Bonsu et al. (1999) and Arun (2008) stated that in the tropics organic matter makes up 3-5 % of the total soil mass and is located within 15 cm of the top soil. According to Sheoran et al. (2010) a level of organic carbon greater than 0.75% indicates good fertility. John et al. (2009) revealed that whilst there no soil organic carbon level that affects soil function, observation of the functionality of the soils below 2% soil organic carbon, in terms of crop production would be a useful indicator of unsustainable farming practices and prompt to adjust management or tillage practices. It can be inferred that, the soils at the re-vegetatively restored mined sites might have good fertility, but due to the closeness of the organic carbon

contents to 2%, soil amendment practices might be required to make the soils productive.

Base saturation is a measurement that indicates the relative amounts of base cations in the soil. By definition, it is the percentage of calcium, magnesium, potassium and sodium cations that make up the total cation exchange capacity (Rayment & Higginson, 1992). From Table 4 above, the highest value of 40% was observed for the unmined area used for farming and lowest (33.42%) from the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. The general low level of base saturation at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil suggests that more of the cation exchange capacity might have been occupied by acid cations, such as hydrogen and aluminum. The pH of soil increases as base saturation increases (Brady & Weil, 2002)

Phosphorus accumulation was highest (106.04 μ g g⁻¹) in the unmined area used for farming. This was significantly higher (p≤0.05) than that of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils. The available phosphorus observed at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil was also significantly lower (p≤0.05) as compared to the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. The relatively low phosphorus values obtained at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil gives an indication of the formation of insoluble phosphates compounds.

Another important factor may be attributed to the low pH value of 5.6 recorded at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. Aluminium goes through hydrolysis under acidic condition which then reacts with orthophosphate ions to form a precipitate known as aluminium–hydroxy phosphate which does not allow the release of phosphorus in the soil (Kwakye, 2013). In furtherance, the

79

lowest total organic carbon value of 1.62% observed at the spoil could also be a contributing factor. Organic carbon content of the soil reflects the amount of organic matter present in the soil. Therefore soils with low organic matter will not be able to produce enough organic acids which solubilizes the inorganic phosphate compound in the soil and thereby not making phosphorus available. Ultimately, soil with low organic matter cannot also coat the surfaces of the soil minerals to prevent the sorption of phosphorus and therefore making phosphorus unavailable.

The relationship between selected physico-chemical properties of the experimental soils

Correlation studies was undertaken to investigate the relationship between selected physico-chemical soil properties and presented in appendix V. The results of the correlation studies showed that (appendix V), generally, there exist a moderate significant negative relationship between gravimetric soil moisture content and nitrogen, potassium, magnesium, manganese as well as soil organic carbon. This inverse relationship meant that increase in soil moisture content will result in a slightly decrease in the ions of the elements of concern. The negative relationship between soil moisture and nitrogen could be explained by the combine effects of de-nitrification of nitrate-N and leaching. Certain soil bacteria that thrive in saturated (anaerobic) soil conditions will convert nitrate-N to oxygen and nitrogen gases. Volatilization of the nitrogen gas can result in N losses of as much as 5% of the available nitrate-N per day. Soils at greatest risk to de-nitrification N loss are those that are naturally heavy and poorly drained, plus fields with significant levels of

soil compaction that restricts natural drainage. The nitrate ion is very mobile and therefore can easily be leached by increased soil moisture (FAO, 2005).

The inverse relationship between soil moisture and potassium (appendix V) might be explained by the mobility parameter as described by Kwakye (2013). The mobility factor of an element is the speed with which the ion of the said element travels from the point of discharge to the absorbing roots. Therefore significant increase in soil moisture content at full saturation point might increase its mobility down the soil profile through percolating water. This observation is in contrast with the findings of Kuchenbuch et al. (1986), who saw increased K mobility in soil with soil moisture. Another important reason to explain the inverse correlation between soil moisture and potassium, magnesium as well as manganese is the fact that the ions of these elements are considered basic cations. Under high moisture conditions basic cations such as potassium, magnesium and manganese are highly leached. When there is sufficient moisture in the soil for leaching to occur, the percolating water can carry dissolved nutrients which will be subsequently lost from the soil profile. The nutrients which are easily leached are usually those nutrients that are less strongly held by soil particles. For instance, in a soil with a high cation exchange capacity and low anion exchange capacity, nitrate (an anion) will leach much more readily than calcium (a cation) potassium (a monovalent cation) will leach more readily than calcium (divalent cation) since calcium is more strongly held to the soil particles than potassium. According to Laboski and Peters (2012), oxygen is necessary for root respiration and potassium uptake. Therefore, factors such as soil compaction and excess moisture that reduce oxygen levels in the root zone decreases

potassium uptake. The relationship between gravimetric soil moisture content and soil organic carbon showed a strongly significant inverse correlation (r= -0.800). This result conforms to the study of Jun-Hua et al. (2007) who stated that increased in soil drainage was a major factor in reducing soil organic matter decomposition. Similarly, Alberti et al. (2011) found that carbon losses in wetter sites of their study was as a result of decreased soil nitrogen stocks due to leaching. The inverse relationship between soil moisture and soil organic carbon however was in contrast with the findings of the FAO, (2005).

Effect of clay content on soil bulk density was found to be higher than that of sand and silt contents. Whilst a weak positive correlation of bulk density was observed with clay (r = 0.419) and silt contents(r = 0.220), a weak inversely correlation was observed with sand (r= -0.468). It can be inferred that the impact of the texture (clay) on bulk density was not too much, because of the low organic carbon. Wagner et al. (1994) estimated soil bulk density using soil texture parameters along with organic carbon content values. Bernoux et al. (1998) found a correlation between texture and bulk density. Dinesh et al (2009) indicated that soil texture specific tests would be required to determine the correct organic matter level to achieve a target bulk density to avoid the problem of compaction.

The bulk density indirectly provides a measure of the soil porosity. Soil porosity is the ratio of the volume of soil pores to the total soil volume. Thus the bulk density of a soil is inversely related to the porosity. Unsurprisingly, Appendix V revealed a strong significant negative correlation (r = -0.951) between porosity and bulk density of soil samples. Bulk density

can be changed by management practices that affect soil cover, organic matter, soil structure, compaction, and porosity. Excessive tillage destroys soil organic matter and weakens the natural stability of soil aggregates making them susceptible to erosion caused by water and wind. When eroded soil particles fill pore space, porosity is reduced and bulk density increases. Tillage prior to planting temporarily decreases bulk density on the surface but increases at the depth of tillage. Subsequent trips across the field by farm equipment, rainfall events, animals, and other disturbance activities will also compact soil. A soil's available water capacity is also affected by organic matter and compaction. Organic matter increases a soil's ability to hold water, both directly and indirectly. Compaction increases bulk density and reduces total pore volume, consequently reducing available water holding capacity (USDA).

Many researchers (Sakin et al. 2011; Catherine and Ouimet, 2007; Morisada et al. 2004 and Leifield et al. 2005) observed the relationship between organic matter and bulk density of soils and showed strong correlation between them. However, Curtis and Post (1964) observed a negative correlation between organic matter and bulk density. This study interestingly showed strong positive correlation (r = 0.878) between organic matter and bulk density of soil samples. Thus the study indicate that as the organic matter increases the bulk density of soil also increases.

The relationship between bulk density, available primary (N, P, K) and secondary (Ca, Mg) macronutrients in the soil was observed. It was found that the bulk density increases as the primary macronutrient contents in the soil increases (appendix V). Statistical correlation studies showed a moderate

83

significant positive correlation of bulk density with exchangeable potassium (r= 0.664), available N (r=0.688) and P (r=0.685). Whilst the secondary macronutrient (Mg) showed a moderate positive correlation (r= 0.623) with bulk density, calcium revealed a weak positive relationship (r= 0.329).

Similar to that of the macronutrients, the available micronutrients (Fe, Mn, Zn, Cu) in the soil also varied with soil bulk density. It was found that the bulk density increased as Fe, Mn and Cu contents in the soil increased. It is only Zn that showed a weak inverse correlation with bulk density. This result is at variance with Laiho et al. (2004) who reported that the concentration of Fe and Zn decreased in the same magnitude with increase in bulk density. Correlation between bulk density and pH (r = 0.363) was positive but weak. However, Shaffer (1998) observed highest correlation between pH and bulk density at 0 to 15 cm, but he did not indicate the reasons.

The relationship between pH and available primary (N, P, K), secondary (Ca, Mg) macro and micro (Fe, Mn, Zn, Cu,) nutrients in the soil were observed. pH showed a moderate positive relation with nitrogen (r=0.611) and phosphorus (r= 0.508). It however indicated a weak positive correlation with potassium (r= 0.490). These observations might be due to the moderate to slightly acidic nature of the study area. Most nutrients (macronutrients especially) tend to be available when soil pH approaches neutral. The relationship between pH and secondary macronutrients (Ca Mg) was weak. This weak relationship might be due to the low levels of organic carbon recorded at the study area. The moderate inverse relationship between pH and Cu (r=0.564) shown in appendix V may be partly due to high levels of iron and zinc. This conforms to the assertion of Landon, (1991). Silver and

Uchida (2000) also postulated that copper availability decreases as pH increases, primarily due to decreased solubility of copper minerals. A moderate positive correlation between pH, Fe and Mn was also observed.

The strong significant positive correlation between organic carbon and macronutrients; nitrogen (r=0.771), phosphorus (r= 0.811), potassium (r= 0.818) was not surprising. This observation is consistent with the general assumption that the decay and decomposition of organic matter releases nutrients to the soil, and probably the main source of the macronutrients at the re-vegetated mined spoil was soil organic carbon.

Table 5:Heavy metals in soil (0-15 cm) for various sites at
AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi concession

Site	As	Cd	Cu	Fe	Mn	Pb	Zn			
mg kg ⁻¹										
С	1.15	ND	33.32	210.68	52.93	4.06	44.88			
Ν	0.98	ND	31.56	206.64	11.62	3.35	42.13			
Т	0.36	ND	34.50	213.45	56.11	3.13	43.04			
1.s.d. 0.05	0.30	*	0.75	2.40	1.94	0.09	3.05			
s.e.	0.09	0.00	0.25	0.80	0.65	0.03	1.02			
C. Huming I are a families. N. Maria are statically and the										

C= Unmined area used for farming, N= Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored

mined spoil, $T_{=}T_{1}$ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil

Heavy Metals in Soils

Arsenic, cadmium, copper, iron, magnesium, lead and zinc

The results of the extractable heavy metal determination revealed that iron accumulation was the highest with mean values ranging from 213.45 to 206.64 mg kg⁻¹. The T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil, was significantly (p \leq 0.05) higher than the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. This

may be attributed to the 17 years of re-vegetation at Nhyiaso as compared to the 15 years at T₁. It can be inferred that iron uptake by the *Acacia mangium* trees were higher at Nhyiaso as compared to that of T₁. Therefore the more the years of re-vegetation the more the uptake and accumulation of iron by plants above the concentration in soil. The high iron levels at the study site conforms to the findings of Golow et al. (1996) who indicated that the gold ore which occurs at Obuasi is made up of iron and the combined forms of minerals such as pyrites (FeS) and arseno-pyrites (FeAsS). The accumulated iron levels at the study sites were however within the critical range (20-2500) mg kg⁻¹ for rain fed low land rice cultivation as stated by Abah et al. (2012).

The extractable zinc followed iron in magnitude and the mean values ranged from 48.19 to 42.13 mg kg⁻¹. Higher concentration of this element was found in the unmined area used for farming. There is however no significant ($p\leq0.05$) difference between unmined area used for farming and the revegetatively restored mined sites. The zinc concentration at the study area however, was relatively lower than the phytotoxicity level (100 – 300) mg kg⁻¹ as stated by Kabata- Pendias, (2011); Alloway (2011). It can be inferred from Table 5 that high concentration of zinc in all the treatment corresponded to lower concentrations of copper. This observed relationship could be explained by the fact that higher concentrations of zinc in the soil solution, relative to copper, can reduce the availability of copper to a plant (and *vice versa*) due to competition for the same sites for absorption into the plant root. This could occur after the application of a copper fertilizer (Alloway, 2008).

The highest extractable manganese was found at T_1 re-vegetated mined spoil with a concentration of 56.11 mg kg⁻¹. Significant difference exists

86

between the sites. It can therefore be inferred (Table 5) that concentration of Mn at the study area was far below the maximum concentration levels (100–4,000) mg kg⁻¹ for a typical uncontaminated soil. Kabata- Pendias (2011), pointed out that manganese contents of worldwide soils vary from 411 to 550 mg kg⁻¹ and its highest levels occur mostly in calcareous soils.

Meanwhile, the highest and lowest copper accumulation were in the range of 34.50 and 31.56 mg kg⁻¹. These were observed at T₁ and Nhyiaso revegetatively restored mined spoils respectively. Similar to manganese, there exist a significant ($p\leq0.05$) difference between all the sites. It can therefore be inferred from the Table 5 that concentration of copper at the study area was below the maximum concentration levels (60–150 mg kg⁻¹) for a typical uncontaminated soil as depicted by Table 1. The copper concentrations at the study area were below the phytotoxicity range as noted by (Schulte and kelling, 1999). However, Cu concentration was above the required amount for plant nutrition. This was explained by Adriano (2001) who indicated that Cu is an essential micronutrient for plant nutrition; however it is only required in small amounts (5 to 20 mg kg⁻¹).

Lead concentration was highest at the unmined area used for farming with a mean concentration of 4.06 mg kg⁻¹. The lowest concentration of 3.13 mg kg⁻¹ was however recorded at the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. The lower concentration of the lead at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils as compared to the unmined area used for farming may be due to the uptake of lead of the *Acacia mangium* trees from the spoil. Mean lead concentration was however significantly different among the treatment. This difference may be partly due to the different levels of lead minerals in the

parent material from which the soil was formed. It can also be inferred (Table 5) that mean lead concentrations at the study area were far below the phytotoxic level (100 -1000) mg kg⁻¹ for plants (Adriano, 2001; Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

The results of the extractable heavy metals concentration revealed that arsenic accumulation was the lowest with mean values ranging from 1.15 to 0.36 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. The Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined site was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher than the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined sites. Generally, the arsenic concentration at each treatment sites were very low and below the recommended soil arsenic maximum allowable concentration range as noted by Kabata- Pendias, 2011) who explained that soil arsenic concentration above 20 mg kg⁻¹ may cause toxicological risks. Surprisingly, the lower concentrations of arsenic recorded at the study area does not support the research results of Aubynn (1997) who pointed out that arsenic emissions at (AngloGold Ashanti) Obuasi, are 1000 times higher than any world standards. Cadmium contents at the study area were below the minimum readable limits of the equipment used.

Table 6:Level of Heavy metals in cassava tubers at thestudy area (mg kg-1)

	Stu	uy alea (l	ing kg)		
Site	As	Cu	Fe	Mn	Zn
С	ND	0.71	5.32	2.02	8.26
Ν	0.13	0.75	13.01	1.19	8.46
Т	0.15	0.67	5.86	1.25	9.67
1.s.d 0.05	0.02	0.07	0.28	0.11	0.48
s.e	0.01	0.02	0.09	0.04	0.17

C= Unmined area used for farming, N= Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil, $T_{=}T_{1}$ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil, ND= No detection

Extractable Heavy Metal from Cassava tubers Sampled

Arsenic, cadmium, copper, iron, magnesium, lead and zinc

Table 6 shows the mean concentration levels of arsenic found in the cassava tubers sampled from the study area. Accumulation of arsenic in cassava tubers from the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil was the highest with a mean concentration value of 0.15. The lowest concentration of 0.13 was found at Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. Mean arsenic level found in cassava tubers from the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil was significantly higher than that of Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. This observed difference might be due to the differences in the number of years used in the restoration process. Although Acacia mangium was used at the predominant plant species at both re-vegetatively restored mined spoil Nhyiaso restored spoil was 2 years older as compared to that of the T_1 restored spoil. There is therefore the likelihood of low arsenic concentrations at the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil as compared to the T_1 restored spoil. This might have reduced the subsequent transfer of the arsenic to the cassava tubers. However, arsenic levels in the cassava tubers from the original unmined area used for farming indicated no detectable concentration.

It can be inferred (Table 6) that cassava tubers from both the Nhyiaso and T_1 re-vegetatively restored mined spoils accumulated low arsenic as compared to that of 1.03 mg kg⁻¹ provided by Amono-Neizer and Amekor (1993). Although, concentration of arsenic in the cassava tubers were very low as compared to the values proposed by Amono-Neizer and Amekor (1993), continuous consumption of food crops contaminated with this element is lethal when accumulated in the body system.

89

The mean copper concentration in cassava tubers from T₁ re-vegetated mined spoil was significantly (p \leq 0.05) than that of both Nhyiaso revegetatively restored mined spoil and unmined area used for farming. Generally, considering the re-vegetated mined spoils, it can be inferred from (Table 6) that copper accumulation was highest (0.75mg kg⁻¹) in cassava tubers from the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. The lowest mean copper accumulation occurred in cassava from the T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined site. This difference might be due to the differences in cassava variety cultivated in the area. The mean copper concentration values observed (Table 6) were far below the threshold of 4 -15 as posited by Alloway (2011).

Iron in Table 6 recorded the highest accumulation (13.01 mg kg⁻¹) in cassava tubers from the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. The lowest accumulation (5.32 mg kg⁻¹) was however observed in cassava tubers from the unmined area used for farming. Iron accumulation in cassava tubers was significantly different in all the sites. This observation might be due to the fact that, cassava planted at each of the re-vegetated mined spoil was from different varieties or cultivars. A strange phenomenon was observed between the concentration of iron in soil (Table 6) and the accumulation of iron in cassava tubers. Iron content in soil was highest at the T₁ re-vegetated mined spoil but surprisingly was the least accumulated by cassava tubers from the same site. This was partly due to the low presence of iron in solution which made it too difficult for the roots of the cassava to extract from the soil. The mean iron concentration in the cassava tubers were extremely below the mean concentration value of 48 mg kg⁻¹ proposed by Kabata-Pendias, (2011).

The accumulation of manganese in Table 6 was highest (2.02 mg kg⁻¹) in

cassava tubers from the unmined site and lowest (1.19 mg kg⁻¹) from the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. Mean manganese concentration in cassava tubers differ significantly ($p \le 0.05$) between the sitess. It can therefore be inferred (Table 6) that the mean concentration of manganese in all the crops were below the range (15-100) mg kg⁻¹ stated by Alloway (2011).

From Table 6, accumulation of Zn in cassava tubers from the T_1 revegetatively restored mined spoil was the highest (9.67 mg kg⁻¹). The lowest accumulation was found in cassava tubers from the unmined area used for farming. Concentration of Zn in cassava tubers from the T_1 re-vegetatively restored mined spoil was significantly higher than the concentration found in the one from the Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil. Zn concentration reported for the crops were within the permissible limits (10-15) mg kg⁻¹ for human consumption (Samara et al., 1992). Unfortunately both cadmium and lead contents in the edible parts of crops were below detection.

Transfer of Heavy metal from soil to cassava tubers

H.M	Treatment	T.F
	С	0.025
Fe	Ν	0.063
	T_1	0.027

Table 7: Translocation factor values for Iron in cassava

H.M= Heavy metal, T.F =Translocation factor, C= Original unmined area used for farming, N= Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined site, Fe= Iron $T_{=}T_{1}$ re-vegetatively restored mined site

The translocation factor, or uptake factor, is an index for evaluating the transfer potential of a metal from soil to plant. From Table 7 above, one can observe that translocation factor values for iron in cassava tubers from the

Nhyiaso re-vegetatively restored mined spoil (0.063) was highest, followed by that of T₁ re-vegetatively restored mined spoil (0.027) and unmined area used for farming (0.025). This observation might be due to fact that, there was more iron presence in the soil solution of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil as a result of previous mining activities undertaken than that of the unmined area used for farming. The translocation factor values for arsenic, copper, iron, manganese and zinc of cassava tubers are listed in appendix VI. According to Olowoyo et al. (2010), if the ratios >1, the plants have accumulated elements, the ratios around 1 indicate that the plants are not influenced by the elements, and ratios < 1 show that plants exclude the elements from the uptake. If the plants have higher TF values, they can be used for phytoremediation (Saglam, 2013).

It can be observed (appendix VI) that all the heavy metals had translocation factor ratio < 1. One can therefore infer that, the cassava crops/plants excluded the elements from the uptake and therefore cannot be used for phytoremediation. It is also vital to note that the immobility nature of iron, copper, manganese, and zinc in plants may have contributed to their low levels in the cassava tubers grown at the studied area as stated by Silva & Uchida, (2000).

	Fe2	Zn2	Cu2	Mn2	AS2
Fe	0.744**	0.171	0.042	-0.823**	0.678**
Zn	-0.071	0.442	0.084	-0.303	0.519*
Cu	0.765**	0.253	0.305	-0.802**	0.770^{**}
Mn	0.604^*	0.510	0.001	-0.984**	0.929**
As	-0.902**	0.570^{*}	-0.263	0.361	-0.055

Table 8:Correlation coefficient between heavy metals in soils
and cassava tubers from the study area

Heavy metals with numbers were from Cassava tubers and vice versa

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

Correlation between iron, zinc, copper, magnesium and arsenic in soil and in cassava tubers

From Table 8 above, there exist a strong significant positive correlation between iron in soils and that in the cassava tubers. This relationship observed could be due to presence of soluble iron in the soil solution and subsequent translocation in to the cassava tubers. Therefore, increase concentration of iron in the soil might correspond to increase accumulation in cassava tubers. This could occur only when the soil iron is not translocated much to other parts of the crop. Zinc and copper in soils also correlated positively but weakly with their corresponding levels in the cassava tubers. Therefore increase in soil zinc, and copper might not cause the same increase in magnitude of the elements in the cassava tubers. This could be due to the translocation of the elements to other parts of the crops other than to the edible parts. This assertion conforms to that of Saglam, (2013), who stated that some root crops grown on contaminated soils accumulate high concentrations of heavy metals in their various parts. Once these metals are taken by the

plants, they then accumulate in different tissues of the plants. This continuous uptake and translocation can increase the concentrations of metals in plant tissues.

However, there was a strong significant negative correlation between manganese in soils and that in the cassava tubers and therefore any incremental increase in soil manganese might result in the decrease of manganese in the cassava tubers. This inverse relationship might be due to the insoluble form of manganese in solution and the inability of the crops to absorb the soil manganese. There was also a weak inverse relationship between arsenic in soil and that accumulated in the cassava tubers from the study area. Saglam (2013), indicated that if there is a strong correlation between elements abundant in the soil and elements existing in plants, one may concludes that those elements found in plants may come from the soil and vice versa. From the correlation coefficients (Table 8), it can be inferred that, manganese in soils and manganese in cassava tubers correlated stronger, followed by iron, zinc, copper, and arsenic in that order.

Summary of the Key findings

From the results and discussion the following key findings were deduced:

- 1. Except for the presence of low basic cations, soil physico-chemical properties were adequate to support crop production.
- 2. The concentration of heavy metals in the re-vegetatively restored mined soils were within phytotoxic limit.
- 3. Heavy metal concentration in the cassava tubers were within their threshold levels.

4. Cassava crop excluded the elements from its uptake and therefore cannot be used for phytoremediation.
CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

Summary and Conclusions

A study was conducted to assess the physico-chemical properties of soil, heavy metal concentration in soils and in cassava tubers cultivated at revegetatively restored mined spoil at AngloGold concession Obuasi. A farm away from the mining area and cropped with cassava served as a control. Physical and chemical soil properties were estimated. Concentration of heavy metals both in re-vegetatively restored mined spoil and in the cassava tubers were also evaluated to determine their toxicity levels.

- 1. Soil physical properties of the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil showed that the soils were loamy textured, well aerated with a total porosity of 40% and also with ideal bulk density ≤ 1.4 g cm⁻³. This was adequate to support crop production.
- Low pH values (5.6 6.16) coupled with low organic carbon (1.62% 2.91%) accumulation might have enhanced leaching losses which may have contributed to the general low level of basic cations (K⁺, Ca²⁺ Mg²⁺ Na⁺) and the availability of total nitrogen and available phosphorus contents of soil from the re-vegetatively restored mined spoils.
- The maximum concentrations of As, Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb and Zn in the revegetatively restored mined spoils (1.15, 35.41, 213.45, 56.11, 4.06, 48.19) mg kg⁻¹ were below their corresponding threshold levels of (15 20, 60 150, 20 2500, 100 4000, 2 200, and 10 300 mg kg⁻¹).

Therefore, *Acacia mangium* plants might have absorbed some amounts of the heavy metals from the mined spoil.

- 4. The concentration of extractable heavy metals at the re-vegetatively restored mined spoil followed a decreasing order of Fe > Zn > Mn > Cu > Pb > As > Cd
- 5. The maximum accumulation of heavy metals (As, Cu, Fe, Mn, and Zn) in cassava tubers occurred as follows: (As: 0.15, Cu: 0.75, Fe: 13.01, Mn: 1.25, Zn: 9.67 mg kg⁻¹). These concentrations were below the phytotoxic limits of (As: 1.1, Cu: 4 15, Fe: 48, Mn: 15 100, and Zn: 15 200) mg kg⁻¹.
- 6. Based on the results of the study, both hypothesis are accepted. However, constant consumption of the cassava tubers from the revegetated restored sites could lead to bio-accumulation of heavy metals in the body system and this might be lethal. Therefore, constant consumption of the crop must be regulated.

Recommendations

- Soil amendments could be applied out in order to improve the physicochemical properties of the soil before any large scale crop production could be done.
- 2. Studies on heavy metal accumulation in the cassava grown at the revegetatively restored mined spoils could be made at different seasons in order to help advise farmers on the consumption pattern of the crop.

REFERENCES

- Abah, J., Umar, A., Bashir, M., Drame, K. N., Manneh, B., Abo, M. E., & Sie,
 M. (2012). Soil Characteristics of three iron toxic sites in Nigeria.
 Journal of Science and Multidisciplinary Research, 4(1), 68-70.
- Abeiku, A. (2014). Re-vegetation of AngloGold Ashanti concession Obuasi. Unpublished manuscript.
- Adimado, A., & Amegbey, N. A. (2003). Incidents of cyanide spillage in Ghana, mineral processing and extractive metallurgy. *Trans. IMMC*, 112, 2.
- Adriano, D. C. (2001). Trace elements in terrestrial environments: Biogeochemistry, bioavailability, and risks of metals, (2nd ed.). New York: Springer.
- Adu, S.V. (1992). Soils of Kumasi, Ashanti Region, Ghana. Kumasi: Soil Research Institute.
- Agodzo, S.K. and Adama, I. (2003). Bulk Density, Core Index and Water Content Relations for Some Ghanaian Soils. *Lecture given at the College on Soil Physics Trieste*, 3 – 21 March 2003.
- Ahmadpour, P., Ahmadpour, F., Mahmud, T. M. M., Arifin, A., Soleimani,
 M., & Hosseini T. F. (2012). Phytoremediation of heavy metals: A green technology. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *11*(76), 43-66.
 Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/AJB

- Alberti, G., Leronni, V., Piazzi, M., Petrella, F., Mairota, P., Peressotti, A., Piussi, P., Valentini, R., Gristina, L., La Mantia, T., Novara, A., & Rühl, J. (2011). Impact of woody encroachment on soil organic carbon and nitrogen in abandoned agricultural lands along a rainfall gradient in Italy. *Regional Environmental Change*, 11(4), 917-924.
- Alloway, B. J. (2008). Zinc in Soils and Crop Nutrition. (2nd ed.). Brussels: IZA and IFA.
- Alegre, J., Alonso-Blázquez, N., de Andrés, E. F., Tenorio, J. L. & Ayerbe, L. (2004). Re-vegetation and reclamation of soils using wild leguminous shrubs in cold semiarid Mediterranean conditions: Litter fall and carbon and nitrogen returns under two aridity regimes. *Plant and Soil*, 26(1), 203-212.
- Amare, H. (2007). Metal Concentration in Vegetables Grown in Northern
 Addis Ababa and part of Rift Valley (Ziway), Ethiopia. (University of
 Addis Ababa). Retrieved from <u>http://etd.aau.edu.et/bitstream/123456</u>
 <u>789/1116/2/Amare %20Hailu.pd</u>
- Amasa, S. K. (1975). Arsenic pollution at Obuasi Goldmine, town, and surrounding country side. *Environmental Health Perspective*, 12, 131-135.
- Amonoo-Neizer, E. H., & Amekor, E. M. K. (1993). Determination of total Arsenic in Environmental samples from Kumasi and Obuasi, *Ghana*. *Environmental Health Perspective*, 101(1), 46-49.

- Amune, M., Omono, C., & Kakulu, S. (2012). Impact of Mining and Agriculture on Heavy Metal Levels in Environmental Samples in Okehi Local Government Area of Kogi State. *International Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences and Technology*, 12(2), 66-77. Retrieved from <u>http://ijopaasat.in/yahoo_site_admin/assets/docs/7_IJPAST-433</u> V12N2 .314202523.pdf
- Anderson, J. M., & Ingram, J. S. I. (1993). *Tropical soil biology and fertility: A handbook of methods*. London: CAB Internation.
- Armah, F. A., Obiri, S., Yawson, D. O., Pappoe, A. N. M., & Bismark, A. (2010). Mining and heavy metal pollution: assessment of aquatic environments in Tarkwa (Ghana) using multivariate statistical analysis. *J. Environmental Stat*istics, *1*(4), 1-13.
- Arun, K. S. (2008). Text book of soil physics. New Delhi: Kalyani Publishers.
- Atyeo, C., & Thackway, R. (2009). Mapping and monitoring re-vegetation activities in Australia - towards national core attributes. *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management*, 16(3), 140-148.
- Awotwi, A. K. (2003). Ghana is a mineral rich Country. Accra Daily Mail, p. 5.
- Aubynn, A. K. (1997). Economic Restructuring Dynamics And Environmental Problems In Africa: Empirical Examples from the Forestry and Mining sectors of Ghana. (UNU/IAS Working Paper No. 34). Tokyo, Japan: UNU/IAS
- Bailey, S.W., Horsley, S.B., and Long, R.P. (2005). Thirty years of change in forest soils of the Allegheny Plateau, Pennsylvania. *Soil Science Society America Journal*, 6(9), 681–690.

- Bastida, E. (2002). Integrating sustainability into legal frameworks for mining in some selected Latin American Countries. *Mining, Minerals and Sustainable Development, 1*(2), 1–33.
- Batjes, N. H. (2011). Soil organic carbon stocks under native vegetation Revised estimates for use with the simple assessment option of the Carbon Benefits Project system. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 14(2), 365-373.
- Brady, N. C., & Weil, R. R. (2002). *The Nature and Properties of Soils*. (13th ed.). New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Bempah, C. K., Ewusi, A., Solomon, O. Y., Stephen, B. A., Francis, M., Juliana B., & Hans, J. V. (2013). Distribution of Arsenic and Heavy Metals from Mine Tailings dams at Obuasi Municipality of Ghana. *American Journal of Engineering Research*, 2(5), 61-70.
- Bernoux, M., Arrouays, D., Cerri, C., Volkoff, B., & Jolivet, C. (1998). Bulk densities of Brazilian Amazon soils related to other soil properties. *Soil Science Society America Journal*, 6(2), 743-746.
- Black, C. A. (1965). *Methods of soil analysis Part I*. Wisconsin, USA: American Society of Agronomy, Inc.
- Black, C. A., Evans, D. D., White, J. L., Ensminger, L. E., & Clark, F. E. (1965). *Methods of soil analysis*. Wisconsin, USA: American Society of Agronomy, Inc.
- Blinker, L. R. (1999). *Mining and the natural environment*: An overview. UNCTAD, 6-8.

- Boateng, E., Dowuona, G. N. N., Nude, P. M., Foli, G., Gyekye, P., & Jafaru,
 H. M. (2012). Geochemical Assessment of the Impact of Mine Tailings
 Reclamation on the Quality of Soils at AngloGold Concession, Obuasi,
 Ghana. *Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences*, 4(4),
 466-474.
- Bochet, E., García-Fayos, P., Alborch, B. and Tormo, J., (2007). Soil water availability effects on seed germination account for species segregation in semiarid road slopes. *Plant and Soil*, 295(1), 179-191.
- Bourne, M., Nicotra, A., Colloff, M., & Cunningham, S. (2008). Effect of soil biota on growth and allocation by *Eucalyptus microcarpa*. *Plant and Soil*, 305(1), 145-156.
- Bonsu, M., Nartey, E., & Ofori-Yentumi, K. A. (1999). Organic matter. A key to evaluating suitable management of tropical soils. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Bray, R. H., & Kurtz, L. T. (1945). Determination of total, organic and available forms of phosphorus in soils. *Soil Science*, *59*(2), *39-45*.
- Brady, N. C. and Weil, R. R. (2002). *Elements of the Nature and Properties of Soils*. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Campbell, D. J., & Henshall, J. K. (2001). Bulk density. In: Smith, K. A. & Mullins, C. E. (Ed.). Soil and Environmental Analysis: Physical Methods. New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Carboo, D. A., & Sarfo-Ama, Y. (1997). Arsenic Pollution in Stream Sediment in the Obuasi area. Symposium on the mining industry and the Environment, KNUST, Kumasi, Ghana.

- Catherine, P., & Ouimet, R. (2007). Organic carbon, organic matter and bulk density relationships in boreal forest soils. *Canadian journal of soil science*, 8(8), 315-325.
- Cortez, J. (1998). Field decomposition of leaf litters: relationships between decomposition rates and soil moisture, soil temperature and earthworm activity. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *30*(6), 783-793.
- Cronon, W. (1995). Uncommon ground: toward reinventing nature. New York: W.W. Norton & Co.
- Curtis, R. O., & Post, B. W. (1964). Estimating Bulk Density from Organic Matter Content in Some Vermont Forest soils. Soil Science Society America Process, 2(8), 285-286.
- Danh, L. T., Truong, P., Mammucari, R., Tran, T., & Foster, N. (2009). Vétiver grass, Vetiveria zizanioides: A choice plant for phytoremediation of heavy metals and organic wastes. *International Journal. Phytoremediation*, 11(8), 664-691.
- Dean, C., Roxburgh, S. H., Harper, R. J., Eldridge, D. J., Watson, I. W., & Wardell-Johnson, G.W. (2012). Accounting for space and time in soil carbon dynamics in timbered rangelands. *Ecological Engineering*, 38, (3), 51 64.
- Dean, C., Wardell-Johnson, G. W., & Harper, R. J. (2012). Carbon management of commercial rangelands in Australia: Major pools and fluxes. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 14(8), 44-64.
- DEFRA/EA: Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the Environment Agency. (2002). Soil Guidelines Values for Arsenic Contamination. London, UK: R & D Publication.

- Dinesh, K., Bansal, M. L., & Phogat, V. K. (2009). Compactability in Relation to Texture and Organic Matter Content of Alluvial Soils. *Indian Journal Agriculture Research*, 43(3), 180-186.
- Down, C. G., & Stocks, J. (1977). *Environmental Impact of Mining*. London: Applied Science Publishers.
- Edward, Y., Holger, K., & Christoph, A. (2012). *Soil Testing Guide* (1st ed.). Market oriented Agriculture programme of the Ministry of Food & Agriculture, Accra, Ghana: MOFA.
- Essumang, D., K., Dodoo, D. K., Obiri, S., Yaney, J. Y. (2007). Arsenic,
 Cadmium, and Mercury in Cocoyam (Xanthosoma sagititolium) and
 Watercocoyam (Colocasia esculenta) in Tarkwa, a Mining
 Community. *Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 7(5), 377-379
- FAO (2013). Save and Grow: Cassava. A guide to sustainable production intensification. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome, Italy.
- FAO. (2010). The State of Food Insecurity in the World: Addressing food insecurity in protracted crises. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- FAO. (2005). *A framework for land evaluation:* Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Fenton, J. (2010). The Untrained Environmentalist. Sydney, Australia: Allen & Unwin

- Foli, G., & Nude, P. M. (2012). Concentration levels of some inorganic contaminants in streams and sediments in areas of pyrometallurgical and hydrometallurgical activities at the Obuasi mine, Ghana. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 6(5), 753-763.
- Galan, E., Gomez-Ariza, J. L., Gonzalez, I., Fernan dez-Caliani, J. C., Morales, E., & Giraldez, I. (2003). Heavy metal partitioning in river sediments severely polluted by acid mine drainage in the Iberian Pyrite Belt. *Applied Geochemistry*, 18(2), 409-421.
- Gao, L., Miao, Z., Bai, Z., Zhou, X., Zhao, J., & Zhu, Y. (1998). A case study of ecological restoration at the Xiaoyi Bauxite mine, Shanxi province. *China Ecological Engineering*, 11(5), 221–229.
- Ghose, M. K. (2005). Soil conservation for rehabilitation and re-vegetation of mine degraded land. *TIDEE – TERI Information Digest on Energy and Environment*, 4(2), 137-150.
- Ghose, M. K. (1989). Land reclamation and protection of environment from the effect of coal mining operation. *Mine technology*, *10*(5), 35-39.
- Golow, A. A., & Adzei, E. A. (2002). Mercury in surface soil and cassava crop near an alluvial goldmine at Dunkwa-On-Offin, an alluvial goldmine, Ghana. *Environmental Contamination Toxicology*, 6(9), 228-235.
- Golow, A. A., Schlueter, A., Amihere-Mensah, S., Grandson, H. L. K., & Tetteh, M. S. (1996). Distribution of Arsenic and Sulphate in the vicinity of Ashanti Gold mine at Obuasi, Ghana. *Environmental Contammination Toxicology*, 5(6), 703-710.

- Gordon, T. M. (2002). Sustainable mine reclamation and landscape engineering. (University of Alberta). Retrieved from <u>http://</u> gordmckenna.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/McKenna-2002Thesis-Chapter-1-Intro-c.pdf.
- Harmsen, K. (1977). *Behaviour of heavy metals in soils*. Wageningen, Netherlands: Centre for Agriculture Publishing and Documentation.
- Hayford, E. K., Amin, A., Osae, E. K., & Kutu, J. (2008). Impact of Gold
 Mining on Soil and some Staple Foods Collected from Selected
 Mining Communities in and around Tarkwa Prestea Area. West
 African Journal of Applied Ecology, 1(4), 1-11
- Heras, M. M. L. (2009). Development of soil physical structure and biological functionality in mining spoils affected by soil erosion in a Mediterranean-Continental environment. *Geoderma*, 14(9), 249 256
- Hilson, G. (2002). Small-scale Mining and Its Socio-economic Impact in Developing Countries. *Natural Resources Forum*, 26(1), 3-13.
- Hoover, H. & Hoover, L. H. (1950). De re metallica. In G. Agricola, (Ed.), The development of mining methods, metallurgical processes, geology, mineralogy & mining law from the earliest times to the 16th Century (p 638). New York: Dover.
- Hutchison, I. P. G., & Ellison, R. D., (1992). Mine waste management: a resource for mining industry, professionals, regulators and consulting engineers. Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.
- International Institute for Environment and Development. (2002). Breaking New Ground: Mining, Minerals and Sustainable Development: Retrieved from URL: <u>http://www.iied.org/pubs/pdfs/G00901.pdf</u>

- ISO, 11465. (1993). Soil Quality Determination of dry matter and water content on a mass basis –Gravimetric method. Geneva, Switzerland: International Organization for Standardization.
- Jackson, M. L. (1973). Soil chemical analysis. New Delhi: Prentice Hall of India Pvt. Ltd.
- Jain, A., Raven, K. P., & Loeppert, R. H. (1999). Arsenite and arsenate adsorption on serrihydrite: surface charge reduction and net OH release stoichiometry. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 33(10), 1179-1184.
- John, S., Hackett, R., Forristal, D., & Creamer, R. (2009). Soil Organic Carbon: A review of 'critical' levels and practices to increase levels in tillage land in Ireland. Wexford, Ireland: Johnstown Castle Environment Research Centre, Co.
- Jonson, J. H., & Freudenberger, D. (2011). Restore and sequester: estimating biomass in native Australian woodland ecosystems for their carbonfunded restoration. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 59(7), 640-652.
- Jouquet, P., Plumere, T., Thu, T. D., Rumpel, C., Duc, T. T. & Orange, D. (2010). The rehabilitation of tropical soils using compost and vermicompost is affected by the presence of endogenic earthworms. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 46(1), 125-133.
- Jun-Hua, Y., Guo-Yi, Z., De-Quiang, Z., & Guo-Wei, C. (2007). Changes of soil water, organic matter and exchangeable cations along a forest successional gradient in southern China. *Chinese Academy of Science*, 17(3), 397-405.

- Juwarkar, A. A., & Singh, S. K. (2010). Microbe-assisted phytoremediation approach for ecological restoration of zinc mine spoil dump. *International Journal of Environmental Pollution*, 4(3), 236–250.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. (2011). *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants*, (4th ed.). Boca Raton, FL: Taylor and Francis Group.
- Kabata-Pendias, A., & Pendias, H. (1992). *Trace elements in soils and plants*. (2nd ed.). Boca Raton, FL. CRC Press.
- Kabata- Pendias, A., & Sadurski, W. (2004). *Elements and their compounds in the environment*, (2nd ed). Boca Raton, FL. CRC Press.
- Kasel, S., & Bennett, L. T. (2007). Land-use history, forest conversion, and soil organic carbon in pine plantations and native forests of south eastern Australia. *Geoderma*, 137(3), 401-413.
- Khan, S., Rehman, S., Khan, A. Z., Khan, A. M., & Shah, M. T. (2010). Soil and vegetables enrichment with heavy metals from geological sources in Gilgit, northern Pakistan. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 7(3), 820-1827.
- Khan, M. S., Zaidi, A., Wani, P. A., & Oves, M. (2009). Role of plant growth promoting Rhizo-bacteria in the remediation of metal contaminated soils. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *7*, 1–19.
- Kristen, L. (20015). *Views of the National Parks*. Retrieved from URL: <u>http://www.earthsciweek.org/classroom-activities/soil-properties</u>
- Kuchenbuch, R., Claassen, N., & Jungk, A., (1986). Potassium availability in relation to soil moisture. *Plant and Soil*, *9*(5), 2.

Kumar, B. M. (2013). Mining waste contaminated lands: an uphill battle for improving crop productivity. *Journal of Degraded And Mining Lands Management*, 1, 43-50

Kwakye, P. K. (2013). Soil Fertility Management. Unpublished manuscript.

- Laboski, C. A., & Peters J. B. (2012). Nutrient application Guidelines for Field, Vegetable and Fruit Crops in Wisconsin. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin press.
- Laiho, R., Penttilä, T., & Laine, J. (2004). Variation in soil nutrient concentrations and bulk density within peat land forest sites. *Silva Fennica*, *38*(1), 29-41.
- Lamb, D. (1994). Reforestation of degraded tropical forest land in the Asia Pacific. *Journal of Tropical Sci*ence, 2(7), 1-7
- Landon, J. R. (1991). A Booker tropical soil manual: In Adu-Bitherman, P., Okae-Anti, D., & Kwakye, P. K. Spatial variability in a Toposequence. University of Cape Coast.
- Leifeld, J., Bassin, S., & Fuhrer, J. (2005). Carbon stocks in Swiss agricultural soils predicted by land-use, soil characteristics, and altitude, *Agriculture Ecosystem Environment*, 10(5), 255-266.
- Lindsay, W. L., & Norvell, W. A. (1978). Development of a DTPA micronutrients soil test for Zn, Fe, Mn and Cu. *Soil Science Society America Process*, *42*(9), 421-428.
- Liping, Q., Xingchang, Z., Jimin, C., & Xinning, H. (2009). Effects of 22 years of re- vegetation on soil quality in the semi-arid area of the Loess Plateau. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 8, 24. <u>Retrieved from</u> <u>http://www.academicjournals.org/AJB</u>

- Loveland, P. & Webb, J. (2003). Is there a critical level of organic matter in the agricultural soils of temperate regions. *Soil & Tillage Research*, *70*, 1-18
- Madejon, E., de Mora, A.P., Felipe, E., Burgos, P., & Cabrera, F. (2006). Soil amendments reduce trace element solubility in a contaminated soil and allow regrowth of natural vegetation. *Environment Pollution*, 13(9), 40-52.
- Maiti, S. K., & Ghose, M. K. (2005). Ecological restoration of acidic coal mine overburden dumps- an Indian case study. *Land Contamination* and Reclamation, 13(4), 361-369.
- Manu, A., Twumasi, Y. A., & Coleman, T. L. (2004). Application of remote sensing and GIS technology to assess the impact of surface mining at Tarkwa, Ghana. *IEEE International*, 1, 572-574.
- Marisa, I., & John, R. D. (2006). Uptake of heavy metals by vegetable plants grown on contaminated soil and their bioavailability in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Food Additives & Contaminants*, 23(1), 36-48,
- Mensah, A. K. (2015). Role of re-vegetation in restoring fertility of degraded mined soils in Ghana: *International Journal of Biodiversity and Conservation*, 7(2), 57-80.
- Metson, A. J. (1961). *Methods of chemical analysis of soil survey samples*. Willenton: DSIR
- Morisada, K., Ono, K., & Kanomata, H. (2004) Organic carbon stock in forest soils in Japan. *Geoderma*, *119*, 21-32

- Nagajyoti, P. C., Lee, K. D., & Sreekanth, T. V. M. (2010). *Heavy metals,* occurrence and toxicity for plants: A review. Environmental Chemistry Letters, 8, 199–216
- Nude, P. M., Foli, G., & Yidana, S. M. (2011). Geochemical assessment of impact of mine spoils on the quality of stream sediments within the Obuasi mines environment, *Ghana. International Journal Geoscience*, 5(2), 259-266.
- Obiri, S. (2007). Determination of heavy metals in bore-holes in Dumasi in the Wassa west district of western region of the Republic of Ghana. *Environmental Monitoring Assessment*, 130, 455-463.
- Okalebo, J. R., Gathua, W. K., & Woomer, P. L. (2002). Laboratory Methods of Soil and Plant Analysis. A working Manual (2nd Ed.). Nairobi, Kenya: TSBFCIAT and SACRED Africa.
- Olowoyo, J. O., van -Heerden E., Fischer, J. L., & Baker, C. (2010). Trace metals in soil and leaves of Jacaranda mimosifolia in Tshwane area. South. Africa Atmospheric Environment, 44, 1826-1830
- Owusu-Bennoah, E., Awadzi, T.W., Boateng, K. L., Breuning-Madsen, H. and Borggaard, O.K. (2000). Soil Properties of a Toposequence in the Moist Semi-Deciduous Forest Zone of Ghana. *West African Journal of Applied Ecology*, 1, 7-8.
- Oyedele D.J., Awotoye, O.O., and Popoola, S.E. (2009). Soil physical and chemical properties under continuous maize cultivation as influenced by hedgerow trees species on an alfisol in South Western Nigeria. *African Journal of Agricultural Research, 4* (7), 736-739.

- Paul, B. M., Caroline, P. W., Keith, A., & Richard, P. E. (2012). Ameliorative Techniques in Improving Re-vegetation Schemes. Granada, Spain: International Mine Water Association.
- Pravin, R., Chaudhari, D. V., Ahire, V. D., Ahire, M. C., & Saroj, M. (2013). Soil Bulk Density as related to Soil Texture, Organic Matter Content and available total Nutrients of Coimbatore Soil. *International Journal* of Scientific and Research Publications, 3, 1-8.
- Pringle, M. J., Allen, D. E., Dalal, R. C., Payne, J. E., Mayer, D. G., O'Reagain, P., & Marchant, B. P. (2011). Soil carbon stock in the tropical rangelands of Australia: Effects of soil type and grazing pressure, and determination of sampling requirement. *Geoderma*, 167, 261-273.
- Rayment, G. E, & Higginson, F. R. (1992). *Electrical Conductivity*. Melbourne, Australia: Inkata Press.
- Redgwell, C. (1992). Abandonment and Reclamation obligations in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Energy and Natural Resources Law.* 10(1), 59–86.
- Rhoades, J.D. (1982). Cation Exchange Capacity. In A.L. (ed.), Methods of Soil analysis, Agron. No. 9, Part 2, (P. 149 – 157). Madison, USA: Am. Soc. Agron. Inc., Publishers
- Richards, L. A. (1965). Physical condition of water in soil. In: C.A. Black (editor in chief). *Methods of Soil Analysis, Part I.* Wisconsin, USA: Am. Soc. Of Agronomy, Inc., Publishers.
- Rowell, D. L. (1994). Soil Science: Methods and Applications. Singapore: Longman Publications Ltd.

- Sabienë, N., Brazauskienë, D. M., & Rimmer, D. (2004). Determination of heavy metal mobile forms by different extraction methods. *Ecology*, 1, 36-41.
- Sadiq, M., Zaida, J. H., & Mian, A. A. (1983). Environmental behavior of arsenic in soils. *Water, Air, and soil Pollution*, 20, 369-377.
- Saglam, C. (20012). Heavy Metal Accumulation in the Edible Parts of Some Cultivated Plants and Media Samples from a Volcanic Region in Southern Turkey. *Ekoloji*, 22(86), 1-8
- Sakin, E., Deliboran, A., & Tutar, E. (2011). Bulk density of Harran plain soils in relation to other soil properties. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6(7), 1750-1757.
- Samara, C., Misaelides, P., Tsalev, D., Anousis, I., Koui, T., & Tzis, M. (1992). Trace elements distribution in vegetables grown in the industrial area of Thessaloniki, Greece. *Frasenius Environmental*. *Bulletin*, 2(1), 577-582.
- Sands, R., Green, E. L., & Gerard, C. J., (1979). Compaction of sandy soils in radiate pine forests in a penetrometer study. *Austrailian Journal Soil Research*, 1(7), 101–113.
- Sarma, H. (2011). Metal hyper accumulation in plants: A review focusing on phytoremediation technology. *Journal Environmental Science Technology*, 4, 118-138.
- Schulte, E. E., & kelling, K. A. (1999). Cooperative Extension. Wisconsin, USA: University of Wisconsin Extension Press.
- Shaffer, M. J. (1998). Estimating Confidence Bands for Soil–Crop Simulation Models. *Soil Science Society America Journal*, *52*, 1782-1789.

- Sheoran, V., Sheoran, A. S., & Poonia, P. (2010). Soil Reclamation of abandoned mine land by re-vegetation: A Review. *International Journal of Soil, Sediment and Water, 3*, 1940-3259. Retrieved from http://scholarworks.umass.edu/intljssw/vol3/iss2/13.
- Sheoran, V., & Sheoran, A. S. (2009). Reclamation of abandoned mine land. Journal of Mining and Metallurgy, 45(1), 13–32.
- Shrestha, R., K., & Lal, R. (2006). Ecosystem carbon budgeting and soil carbon sequestration in reclaimed mine soil. *Environment International*, 32, 781-796.
- Silva, J. & Uchida, R.S. (2000). Plant Nutrient Management in Hawaii's Soils: Approaches for Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture. Manoa, Honolulu: University of Hawaii.
- Singh, J.S. (1993). Growth performance of certain directly seeded plants on mine spoil in a dry tropical environment. *India Forest, 119*, 920-927.
- Society for Ecological Restoration International Science & Policy Working Group, (2004). The SER International Primer on Ecological Restoration. SER Washington DC.
- Singh, S., Zacharias, M., Kalpana, S., & Mishra, S., (2012). Heavy metals accumulation and distribution pattern in different vegetable crops. *Journal of Environmental Chemistry and Ecotoxicology*, 4(10), 170-177.
- Singh, A.N., Raghubanahi, A.S., & Singh, J.S. (2004). Impact of native tree plantations on mine spoil in a dry tropical environment. *Forest Ecology Management*, 18(7), 49-60.

- Singh, A.N., Raghubanshi, A.S., & Singh, J. S., (2002). Plantations as a tool for mine spoil restoration. *Current Science*, 82(12), 1436–1441.
- Soil Survey Division Staff (1993). Soil Survey: Early concept of soil. New York:Soil Conservation Service.
- Son, Y., Yang, S. Y., Jun, Y. C., Kim, R. H., Lee, Y. Y., Hwang, J. O., & Kim, J. S. (2003). Soil Carbon and Nitrogen Dynamics During Conversion of Agricultural Lands to Natural Vegetation in Central Korea. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 3(4), 11-12.
- Subbaiah, B.V., & Asija, G. L. (1965). A rapid procedure for determination of available nitrogen in soil. *Current Science*, 25(4), 259-260.
- Turner, J. & Lambert, M., (2000). Change in organic carbon in forest plantation soils in eastern Australia. Forest Ecology and Management, 133(3), 231-247.
- Turner, J., Lambert, M. J., & Johnson, D. W. (2005). Experience with patterns of change in soil carbon resulting from forest plantation establishment in eastern Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 22(5), 259-269.
- Ulrich, K., David, P., Marian, T. W., & Gregory, K. (2013). Cassava market and value chain Analysis, Ghana case study, Field report, January, 2013.
- USDA. (1978). Soil Taxonomy. Agriculture Handbook no. 436. Washington D.C.: USDA, Soil Conservation Service.

- UNEP, (2000). The Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer as adjusted and/or amended in London 1990, Copenhagen 1992, Vienna 1995, Montreal 1997, Beijing 1999, Ozone Secretariat, United Nations Environment Programme.
- Volesky, B., & Holan Z. R. (1995). Biosorption of heavy metals. Biotechnology Programme, 5(11), 235-250.
- Walde, A. (1993). Environmental policies towards mining in developing countries. *The Public Land and Resources Law Digest*, *30*(1), 41–73.
- Wagner, L. E., Ambe, N. M, & Ding, D., (1994). Estimating a Proctor density curve from intrinsic soil properties. *America Society Agricultural Engineering*, 37(4), 1121-1125
- Wang, Y., Fu, B., Lu, Y., & Chen, L. (2011). Effects of vegetation restoration on soil organic carbon sequestration at multiple scales in semi-arid Loess Plateau, China. *Catena*, 85, 58-66.
- Wang, J. R., Zhao, F. J., Meharg, A. A., Raab, A., Feldmann, J., & Mcgrath,
 S. P. (2002). Mechanisms of arsenic hyper accumulation in Pteris vittata. Uptake kinetics, interactions with phosphate, and arsenic speciation. *Plant Physiology*, *130*, 1552-1561.
- Wakley, A., & Black, I. A. (1934). An examination of the Degtjareff method for determination of organic carbon in soils: Effect of variations in digestion conditions and inorganic soil constituents. *Soil Science*, 63, 251-263.
- Watanabe, F. S. & Olsen, S. R. (1965). Test of ascorbic acid method for determining phosphorus in water and NaHCO₃ extract from soils. *Soil Science Society America Process*, 29, 677-678.

- Williams, D. E. (1949). A rapid manometric method for determination of calcium carbonate in soil. Soil Science Society America Process, 13, 127-129.
- Williams, H.T. and Bellito, M.W. (1998). Re-vegetation of historic high altitude mining wastes in the western united states. In: Fox, Moore and Mcintosh (eds). *Land Reclamation: Achieving Sustainable Benefits* (193-194). NewYork, USA: University of California press.
- Willis, X. (2010). Evaluating the long-term success of native re-vegetation in the Southern Tablelands. (University of Wollongong, Australia). Retrieved from <u>http://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?Article</u> =1024&context=thsci
- Wilson, B. R. (2008). Influence of scattered paddock trees on surface soil properties: A study on the Northern Tablelands of NSW. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 3(3), 211-219
- Witmann, H. K. D., Gabriel, N. N. D., Seth, K. A. D., Julius, K. A., Ayoade,
 O. O., & Enoch, B. (2012). Evaluation of Quality of Some Rehabilitated Minxed Soils within the AngloGold-Ashanti Concession in Ghana. *International Journal of Geosciences*, 2(3), 50-61.
- Yadav, V., Malanson, G. P., Bekele, E., & Lant, C. (2009). Modeling watershed scale sequestration of organic soil carbon for carbon credit programs. *Applied Geography*, 29, 488 - 500.
- Yang, B., Shu, W. S., Ye, Z. H., Lan, C. Y., & Wong, M. H. (2003). Growth and metal accumulation in *vetiver* and two *Sesbania* species on lead/zinc mine tailings. *Chemosphere*, 52(9), 1593-1600.

- Yidana, S. M., Ophori, D., & Banoeng-Yakubo, B. (2008). A multivariate statistical analysis of surface water chemistry data in the Ankobra Basin, Ghana. *Journal Environment Management*, 86, 80-87.
- Young, A. (1997). Agroforestry for soil management effects of trees in soils. London, U.K.: CAB International.
- Zango, M. S., Anim-Gyampo, M. & Ampadu, B., (2013). Health Risks of Heavy Metals in selected Food Crops cultivated in Small-scale Goldmining Areas in Wassa-Amenfi-West District of Ghana. *Journal of Natural Sciences Research*, 3, 96-100.
- Zhang, W. J. C., Tu, Y., & Ma, L. Q. (2012). Arsenic speciation and distribution in an arsenic hyperaccumulating plant. *The Science of the total Environment*, 300, 167-177.
- Zhang, C. B., Huang, L. N., Wong, M. H., Zhang, J. T., Zhai, C. J., & Lan, C.
 Y. (2006). Characterization of Soil Physico-Chemical and Microbial Parameters after Re-vegetation Near Shaoguan Pb/Zn Smelter, Guangdong, P.R. China. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 177(1), 81-101.
- Zhang, Z. Q., Shu, W.S., Lan, C.Y., & Wong, M. H. (2002). Soil seed bank as an input of seed sources in vegetation of lead/ zinc mine tailings. *Restoration Ecology*, 9(4), 1-8.
- Zedler, J. B., (2007). Success: An unclear, subjective descriptor of restoration outcomes. *Ecological Restoration*, 25(3), 162–168.

APPENDIX I

Map of Ghana showing Obuasi Township



Source: http://web2.ges.gla.ac.uk/upima/Fieldwork_Ghana.html. 08/06/2015

APPENDIX II

The descriptive ranges of soil pH

Ultra acid	<3.5	
Extremely acid	3.5-4.4	
Very strong acid	4.5-5.0	
Strong acid	5.1-5.5	
Moderately acid	5.6-6.0	
Slightly acidic	6.1-6.5	
Neutral	6.6-7.3	
Slightly alkaline	7.4-7.8	
Moderately alkaline	7.9-8.4	
Strongly alkaline	8.5-9.5	
Very strongly alkaline	>9.5	

Soil Survey Division Staff (1993).

120

APPENDIX III

Soil Test Interpretation Guide

A: Macronutrients (N P K)

Element:	Nitroge	n	Phosp	horus	Potassium		
Extraction	l				Ammonium Acetate		
Method:	Kjedah	1 2NKCl	Bray	Olsen	Available		
Unit	%	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm		
Levels:							
Low	0.05-0.13	<20	<20	<15	<175		
Adequate	0.13-0.23	20-41	20-40	15-25	175-280		
High	0.23-0.30	41-75	40-10	0 >25	280-800		
B: Macronutrients (Ca, Mg)							
Element		Calcium			Magnesium		
Extraction							
Method:		Ammonium	Acetate		Ammonium Acetate		

ppm

<1000

>2000

1000-2000

meq/100g

< 0.5

>1.5

0.5-1.5

ppm

<60

60-180

>180

meq/100g

<5

5-10

>10

Edward, et al. (2012).

Unit:

Levels:

Adequate

Low

High

Element	Iron	Manganese	Zinc	Copper
Extraction				
Method:	DTPA	DTPA	DTPA	DTPA
Units:	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
Levels:				
Low	<2.5	<0.6	<1.0	<0.6
Adequate	2.5-5.0	0.6-2.0	1.0-1.5	0.6-2.0
High	>5.0	>2.0	>1.5	>2.0

C: Micronutrients

Edward, et al. (2012).

					Corre	elation o	i pnysico	-cnenno	car pro	operues	01 SOII 2	it the re-	vegetat	ivery res	stored m	med sol						
												Pore		Exc	;							
	N	Р	Ca	Mg/	K	Na	OC	silt	clay	sand	BD	Vol	CEC	Acidity	ECEC	pН	Fe	Zn	Cu	Mn	Pb	As
MC	620*	541*	365	520*	591*	093	800**	.143	.098	160	577*	.604*	502	502	502	495	226	.283	.353	553*	193	307
Ν		.764**	.673**	.735**	.783**	.245	.771**	.063	.079	100	$.688^{**}$	775**	.730**	.730**	.730**	.611*	.280	505	720**	$.609^{*}$.334	.529*
Р			.733**	.988**	.991**	.538*	.811**	074	035	.050	.685**	876**	.974**	.974**	.974**	.508	.090	185	798**	$.520^{*}$.677**	.832**
Ca				.756**	.722**	.710**	.490	016	004	.009	.329	513	.826**	.826**	.826**	$.540^{*}$	033	119	658**	.219	.665**	.495
Mg					.976**	$.607^{*}$.769**	129	043	.097	.623*	832**	.990**	.990**	.990**	.479	.012	137	794**	.448	.732**	.794**
Κ						.533*	.818**	082	066	.077	.664**	858**	.966**	.966**	.966**	.490	.094	188	753**	.497	.683**	.832**
Na							.093	361	465	.571*	211	085	.694**	.694**	.694**	.088	631*	.423	248	378	.953**	.477
OC								039	.204	143	$.878^{**}$	922**	.719**	.719**	.719**	$.586^{*}$.481	320	642**	.816**	.234	.563*
silt									.062	657**	.220	107	143	143	143	.528*	.497	257	128	.285	354	028
clay										790**	.419	263	096	096	096	.124	.705**	459	294	.490	479	254
sand											468	.283	.146	.146	.146	410	846**	.515*	.309	558*	$.570^{*}$.176
BD												951**	.541*	.541*	.541*	.619*	.667**	.598*	755**	.974**	068	.449
poreVol													- .768**	768**	768**	614*	473	.468	.837**	861**	243	652**
CEC														1.000**	1.000**	.476	053	088	760**	.364	.792**	.784**
ExcAci															1 000**	176	053	088	760**	364	702**	78/**
dity															1.000	.470	055	000	700	.504	.192	.704
ECEC																.476	053	088	760**	.364	.792**	.784**
рН																	.437	406	564*	.625*	.068	.204
Fe																		465	272	.764**	571*	037
Zn																			$.527^{*}$	627*	.355	039
Cu																				654**	334	561*
Mn																					269	.268
Pb																						$.678^{*}_{*}$

APPENDIX IV Correlation of physico-chemical properties of soil at the re-vegetatively restored mined soil

Where; MC - Gravimetric Moisture Content, N - Nitrogen, P - Phosphorous, Ca - Calcium, Mg - Magnesium, K- Potassium, Na- Sodium, Oc-

Organic Carbon, Bd-Bulk density, CEC - Cation Exchange Capacity, Fe - iron, Zn- zinc, Cu- Copper, Mn- Manganese, Pb - Lead

APPENDIX V

A: Cadmium content of cassava tubers from the study area

Heavy metal	Treatment	cassava	
	С	0.08	
Cd	Ν	0.08	
	Т	0.08	
l.s.d.	*		
s.e.	0.00		

B: Lead content of cassava tubers mature from the study area

Heavy metal	Site	cassava	
	С	0.04	
Pd	Ν	0.04	
	Т	0.04	

l.s.d. *

s.e.d.0.000

APPENDIX VI

H.MTreatmentCropT.FNCassava0.132AsT1Cassava0.417

A: Translocation factor values for Arsenic

B: Translocation factor values for Copper

H.M	Treatment	Crop	T.F	
	С	Cassava	0.021	
Cu	Ν	Cassava	0.024	
	T_1	Cassava	0.019	

C: Translocation factor values for Iron

H.M	Treatment	Crop	T.F	
	С	Cassava	0.025	
Fe	Ν	Cassava	0.063	
	T_1	Cassava	0.027	

D: Translocation factor values for manganese

H.M	Treatment	Сгор	T.F	
	С	Cassava	0.038	
Mn	Ν	Cassava	0.102	
	\mathbf{T}_1	Cassava	0.022	

H.M	Treatment	Crop	T.F	
	С	Cassava	0.184	
	Ν	Cassava	0.201	
Zn	T_1	Cassava	0.225	

E: Translocation factor values for Zinc